
 
Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda                                                        Page 1 of 2 
 
 

MORROW COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA 
Wednesday, December 14, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 
110 N. Court St., Heppner, Oregon 
Zoom Meeting Information on Page 2 

 
Please note the upcoming schedule for BOC Meetings: 

Tuesday, December 20th 
Wednesday, December 28th – No Meeting 

Wednesday, January 4th – First meeting of 2023 
 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance - 9:00 a.m. 
2. City/Citizen Comments:  Individuals may address the Board on topics not on the agenda 
3. Open Agenda:  The Board may introduce subjects not on the agenda 
4. Consent Calendar 

a. Approve Accounts Payable and Payroll Payables 
b. Minutes:  November 9th  
c. Public Transit 5310 & 5311 Program Applications, Fiscal Years 2023-25 
d. PARC Resources Master Services Agreement for Grant Writing Services 
e. School-Based Health Center Services Agreement   

5. Business Items 
a. Broadband Action Team Update & Fabric Data Licensee Request (Aaron Moss, 

Broadband Action Team Coordinator) 
b. Adopt Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund Plan, Fiscal Years 2023-25 

(Katie Imes, Public Transit/The Loop) 
c. Wage Increase for Temporary Flaggers and Temporary Park Help (Lindsay 

Grogan, Eric Imes, Greg Close) 
d. Appointment Requests to the Planning Commission (Tamra Mabbott, Planning 

Director) 
e. Willow Creek Valley Housing Implementation Strategy Report (Tamra Mabbott) 

6. Department Reports 
a. Planning Department Monthly Report (Tamra Mabbott) 
b. Treasurer’s Monthly Report (Jaylene Papineau) 

7. Commissioner Liaison Reports 
8. Correspondence 
9. Commissioner Reports 
10. Signing of documents 
11. Adjourn 
 

Agendas are available every Friday on our website (www.co.morrow.or.us/boc under 
“Upcoming Events”).  Meeting Packets can also be found the following Monday. 
 
The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at 
least 48 hours before the meeting to Roberta Lutcher at (541) 676-5613. 
 

http://www.co.morrow.or.us/boc


 
Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda                                                        Page 2 of 2 
 
 

Pursuant to ORS 192.640, this agenda includes a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be 
considered at the meeting; however, the Board may consider additional subjects as well. This 
meeting is open to the public and interested citizens are invited to attend. Executive sessions are 
closed to the public; however, with few exceptions and under specific guidelines, are open to the 
media. The Board may recess for lunch depending on the anticipated length of the meeting and 
the topics on the agenda. If you have anything that needs to be on the agenda, please notify the  
Board office before noon of the preceding Friday.  If something urgent comes up after this 
publication deadline, please notify the office as soon as possible. If you have any questions about  
items listed on the agenda, please contact Chair Jim Doherty at (541) 571-0584. 
 

Zoom Meeting Information 
 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546  Password:  97836  Meeting ID: 541-676-2546 
 
Zoom Call-In Numbers for Audio Only Using Meeting ID 541-676-2546#: 

• 1-346-248-7799 
• 1-669-900-6833  
• 1-312-626-6799 

• 1-929-436-2866 
• 1-253-215-8782 
• 1-301-715-8592 

 
 
 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546


 

Board Minutes, November 9, 2022                                                                          Page 1 of 4 
 

Morrow County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes 
November 9, 2022 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 
Heppner, Oregon 

 
Present In-Person 
Chair Jim Doherty, Commissioner Melissa Lindsay, Commissioner Don Russell, Kevin Ince, 
Roberta Lutcher, Justin Nelson, Lisa Pratt, Mike Hughes 
Present Via Zoom 
Sandi Pointer, Del Turner, Ronda Fox, Julie Baker, David Sykes, SaBrina Bailey-Cave, Mary 
Killion, Mike Gorman, Heidi Turrell, Erin Anderson, Ana Pineyro, Torrie Griggs, Kirsti Cason, 
Erika Lasater, Katie Imes, Rick Stokoe, Diane Kilkenny, Karen Pettigrew, Yvonne Morter, 
Kelsey Crocker, Jaylene Papineau, Linda Skendzel, Anna Browne, Lisa Mittelsdorf, Aaron 
Moss, Robin Canaday, Kathy Street 
City & Citizen Comments – None 
Open Agenda 

• Commissioner Lindsay requested to add a discussion regarding a letter of support for 
Randy Jones with the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), to continue his 
efforts on the Lower Umatilla Basin Groundwater Management Area (LUBGWMA) 
Committee. 

• County Counsel, Justin Nelson, asked to talk about the start time for next week’s Board 
of Commissioners (BOC) meeting; and to decide a date for a BOC meeting at the 
Morrow County Government Center in Irrigon. 

• Chair Doherty said he planned to bring an agenda item today (ambulance transport 
license request from Boardman Fire Rescue District) and he was happy to hear there were 
productive talks between John Murray, Chief Mike Hughes and Ken Browne.  He said he 
built on that and talked to the Oregon Health Authority; the contracted mediator, 
Elizabeth Heckathorn; medical service providers; and ambulance service providers and 
short of some of the documentation the Board has discussed, there was potential for some 
movement.  He said he visited with Mr. Nelson, this morning about adding it to the 
agenda, but his recommendation was to suspend it and allow him to get together with the 
parties and craft something that can come back on the Consent Calendar, maybe even 
next week.  Chair Doherty said things could be parsed out and if it was withdrawn from 
the Consent Calendar, it could be set it over to the following week.   

• Chair Doherty noted the membership dues invoice from the Northeast Oregon Water 
Association (NOWA) would be removed from the agenda and processed through 
Accounts Payable since the amount was budgeted during the annual Budget Committee 
Meetings in May. 

 
Consent Calendar 
Commissioner Russell moved to approve the following items in the Consent Calendar: 

1. Accounts Payable and Payroll Payables 
2. Minutes:  October 26th and November 2nd 
3. Amendment 8 to Oregon Health Authority Intergovernmental Agreement #169524 for the 

Financing of Public Health Services; and authorize Chair Doherty to sign on behalf of 
the County 



 

Board Minutes, November 9, 2022                                                                          Page 2 of 4 
 

Commissioner Lindsay seconded.  Unanimous approval. 
 
Business Items 
Resolution No. R-2022-24:  Approving the Morrow County Credit Card Use Policy 
Kevin Ince, Finance Director 
Mr. Ince explained a Work Session on this topic was held October 26th and the version presented 
today encompasses the changes requested on that day.  He provided a brief overview of the 
changes.   
 
Commissioner Russell moved to approve Resolution No. R-2022-24:  In the Matter of Transfer of 
Morrow County Credit Card Policy; to replace the current Morrow County Credit Card Policy 
last revised on March 2, 2016; and direct the Finance Director to implement the policy.  
Commissioner Lindsay seconded.  Discussion:  Mike Gorman, Assessor/Tax Collector, said he 
was concerned about the requirement for a detailed receipt or invoice.  He said there have been 
some cases where a detailed receipt, especially for meals, wasn’t available.  He said he ran into 
this with the prior Finance Director and staff and he didn’t think the department should be on 
the hook to reimburse the County for lack of a receipt they couldn’t get.  This seemed extreme, he 
added.  Commissioner Lindsay said the last time she got a handwritten receipt, she asked for a 
detailed receipt.  In her experience as treasurer for the Association of Oregon Counties, the 
auditor required AOC to reduce its number of credit cards.  Part of this is to make sure the 
County can hold the flexibility for staff, and follow best practices for the Finance Department, 
she explained.  Mr. Ince said there will be some level of discretion and it was not the intention to 
penalize through policy, but more the intention to make every effort to add transparency to all 
transactions.  Were this the private sector, subject to IRS regulations…an itemized receipt would 
be an absolute requirement…just to offer a comparison, he said.  Commissioner Russell asked if 
he could add handwritten detail to a receipt that lacked detail.  Mr. Ince said that would not 
work.  Commissioner Russell then said he would need to make sure receipts meet the 
requirement for detail.  Vote:  Unanimous approval. 
 
Payday Policy Change 
Lindsay Grogan, Human Resources Director 
Ms. Grogan said the request was to change the payroll date from every other Thursday to every 
other Friday.  She listed the reasons for the request and said signed Letters of Agreement were 
obtained from both unions, Teamsters and AFSCME.   
 
Commissioner Russell moved to approve the proposed payroll policy which changes the biweekly 
payday from Thursday to Friday.  Commissioner Lindsay seconded.  Discussion:  Commissioner 
Lindsay said the fact Ms. Grogan ran this past the unions made it clear to her.  Commissioner 
Russell said it would be a one-time hit to employees but if the unions agreed, he was behind it to 
give the payroll manager an opportunity for a little extra time.  Ms. Grogan said it will take 
effect December 1st and an all-staff email will be sent to make sure they have three weeks of lead 
time in case changes are needed to automatic bill pays, things like that.  Commissioner Russell 
asked when the second half of the 5% payroll bonus will come out.  Ms. Grogan replied, the first 
payroll in December.  Vote:  Unanimous approval. 
 
Access Agreement with DEQ – Former Ione Gas Station 



 

Board Minutes, November 9, 2022                                                                          Page 3 of 4 
 

Commissioner Lindsay said DEQ and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) were 
committed to this project that will ultimately get a property back into good standing for the 
economic development of the community.  She said the property came into County ownership 
through foreclosure.  
 
The agreement described the work as – to facilitate the environmental investigation of, and 
performance of removal or remedial actions, at the property located at 320 Main Street, Ione. 
 
Commissioner Russell moved to approve the Access Agreement with the Orgon Department of 
Environmental Quality.  Commissioner Lindsay seconded.  Commissioner Lindsay asked to 
amend the motion to specify all three Commissioners would sign.  Vote:  Unanimous approval. 
 
Break:  9:33-9:38 a.m. 
 
Updated Contract with Ducote Consulting 
Tamra Mabbott, Planning Department Director 
Ms. Mabbott explained the funds allocated in the April 2021 contract have been exhausted.  Ms. 
Mabbott requested the contract be renewed so Planning can continue to work with Nick Ducote 
on grants for several trail projects.  The rate increased from $90 per hour to $100 per hour, she 
added.  After a discussion about the County’s Request for Proposals for Grant Writing Services, 
Commissioner Russell requested a Work Session to ensure there is some degree of coordination 
between departments requesting grant writing assistance.  
 
Commissioner Lindsay moved to approve the updated contract with Ducote Consulting; effective 
November 9, 2022 and shall end no later than 60 days after the completion of the project; not-to-
exceed amount $10,000; and authorize Chair Doherty to sign on behalf of the County.  
Commissioner Russell seconded.  Vote:  Unanimous approval. 
 
LUBGWMA Committee Discussion 
Commissioner Lindsay distributed copies of the draft letter and explained Randy Jones, DEQ 
Regional Solutions Team, has been instrumental in the activities of the LUBGWMA Committee.  
He is set to retire at the end of the year and she asked the Board to consider signing the letter 
urging DEQ to continue his employment on a part-time basis through 2023.  The letter will be 
signed jointly by the Umatilla County Board of Commissioners, she said.   
 
Chair Doherty moved to join Umatilla County in supporting Randy Jones, as presented in the 
letter.  Commissioner Lindsay seconded.  Vote:  Unanimous approval. 
 
Upcoming BOC Meetings 
The Board agreed to the following: 

• Start the November 15th meeting at 9:15 a.m. to accommodate the schedule at the 
Association of Oregon Counties Annual Conference in Eugene. 

• Hold a BOC Meeting at the Morrow County Government Center Building in Irrigon on 
November 23rd. 

 
Old Business 



 

Board Minutes, November 9, 2022                                                                          Page 4 of 4 
 

Continuing Discussion on the County-Owned Cistern 
The land on which the County-owned cistern is located is owned by the Willow Creek Valley 
Economic Development Group (WCVEDG), according to Commissioner Lindsay.  Housing 
development infrastructure work has been occurring but the cistern issue needed to be resolved, 
she said.  After discussion, Commissioner Lindsay said she would work with Eric Imes, Public 
Works Director, and return with more detailed information for the Board on November 23rd. 
 
Department Reports 

• The Surveyor’s Quarterly Written Report, submitted by Matt Kenny, was reviewed 
• The Planning Department Monthly Report, submitted by Ms. Mabbott, was reviewed 
• The Treasurer’s Monthly Report, submitted by Jaylene Papineau, was reviewed in her 

absence 
 
Commissioner Liaison Reports 

• Commissioner Russell said he spoke to Mr. Gorman and he requested a Work Session to 
discuss a policy for foreclosed property sales.  The Work Session should include the 
Sheriff’s Office, County Counsel, Finance Department and Treasurer.   

• Commissioner Lindsay said yesterday’s meeting of Department Directors & Elected 
Officials went well.  She said she viewed IT and the Surveyor as similar to other 
contractors, like the tourism consultant, and perhaps they should fall under the Finance 
Director for management rather than having an assigned Commissioner Liaison.   
Commissioner Lindsay requested Mr. Ince bring the topic back for a more formal 
discussion.   said she believed the IT Department and Surveyor were technically on 
contract and shouldn’t necessarily be at those meetings.  She also said the Commissioners 
need to make sure when having conversations with any departments, if they involve some 
directives and that Commissioner is not the liaison, that the liaison or County Counsel be 
included.  She said a few conversations or directives have been given that she thought 
inappropriate without further conversations.   

• Chair Doherty said the firm doing the wage study would like to meet with the Board on 
November 23rd, possibly in Executive Session. 

 
Correspondence 

• Letter to the Commissioners from Morrow County resident, Lisa Pratt.  Ms. Pratt also 
serves on the Boardman Fire Rescue District Board.  In the eight-page correspondence, 
including attached documentation, she asked the Board to explain how there is not a need 
for additional ambulances in Boardman. 

 
Commissioner Reports 
Brief reports were provided. 
 
Signing of documents 
 
Adjourned:  10:55 a.m. 
 















































































































































STIF Allocation Estimate  Page 1 of 5 
Corrected, Sept. 16, 2022  

  
 

Overview 
On September 6, 2022, the Public Transportation Division (PTD) communicated information regarding the FY2024-2025 
and FY2026-2027 Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund (STIF) program estimates. However, these 
communicated estimates did not include the required adjustment to the base distribution as required by the ORS 
184.758 Distribution of moneys from Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund.   

Effective July 1, 2023, the base distribution must be adjusted to the rate of growth of the consolidated fund’s revenues 
relative to the rate of growth of the fund as a whole. The STIF consolidated fund grew by 15.91% between the 2019-21 
biennium and 2023-25 biennium estimates or $37 million. Therefore, the base allocation adjustment for the 24 
providers will increase by an estimated $2.6 million over the FY2024-FY2025 biennium, which is less than 1% of the 
consolidated program revenue. Because of the increase in the base amount, eight new providers now qualify for the 
adjusted base because the payroll collections received within the Qualified Entities’ jurisdictional boundary is less than 
the adjusted base amount. 

The table below provides an overview of the growth estimates. An overview of the adjustment will be discussed at the 
October 3, 2022 Public Transportation Advisory Committee and the Oregon Transportation Commission is anticipated to 
take action on the adjustment at their November meeting.   

 

GROWTH FROM 19-21 LEVEL OF FUNDING 
 

$ 232.6M 19-21 Consolidate Program Revenue  
 

$ 269.7M 23-25 Consolidate Program Revenue  
 

$ 37M Growth in Revenue 19-21 to 23-25 

  
15.91% Percentage of Increase (Base % Adjustment for 23-25 Allocations 

 

In addition, we would like all Qualified Entities and Public Transportation Service Providers to plan for funds up to and 
including an additional 20% of the allocation estimates, shown in the tables below. This will help to ensure that if 
revenues are higher than forecast, providers will receive those funds during the 2023-25 biennium.  

Introduction 
ODOT has completed an update to the STIF allocation estimate. We will continue to update forecasts as we receive 
revised economic data. This update to the STIF forecast reflects the consolidation with the Special Transportation Fund 
as required by Senate Bill 1601. Revenues from cigarette taxes, ID card fees, and the non-highway gas tax are included 
with the payroll tax revenues. This forecast includes payroll shares and populations for 2020 and reflects expected 
revenues to be received. 

Estimate Assumptions 
ODOT can distribute only the revenue it receives, which may be more or less than this estimate, up to each individual 
Qualified Entity’s (QE) approved STIF Plan funding limit for STIF Formula. Distributions typically represent tax collections 
from two quarters prior; for example, the July distribution (FY 21 Q1) is largely comprised of taxes collected from January 
through March (FY 20 Q3). Updated estimates for the Formula, Discretionary, and Intercommunity Discretionary funds for 
FY 24-25 (23-25 biennium) and forecasts for FY 26-27 are summarized in the table below. 

  

Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund  
Allocation Estimate, Corrected, Sept. 16, 2022 



STIF Allocation Estimate   Page 2 of 5 
Corrected, Sept. 16, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The tables on the following pages summarize the estimated Formula fund revenues available to each QE based on the date 
of distribution by fiscal year. There are tables for the consolidated program, the population based formula, and payroll 
based formula. Population based formula funds must be dedicated to transportation services for older adults and 
individuals with disabilities.  

Estimate Calculation Method  
• Gross payroll tax revenue is multiplied by projected tax payer compliance rate of 97 percent 
• Fees and other taxes grow at a nominal historic rate  
• Department of Revenue collection and administration costs are deducted from the gross revenue  
• The result is multiplied by 90% to determine the projected Formula Fund net total 
• 10.2% is allocated for population basis distribution 
• The projected net total is multiplied by the QE payroll shares resulting in QE revenue estimates 
• QE payroll shares are calculated using the most current annual payroll data from the Oregon Employment 

Department, with adjustments made to ensure each QE receives the minimum allocation 

The remaining ten percent of STIF funds collected is dedicated to the Discretionary Fund (five percent), Intercommunity 
Discretionary Fund (four percent), and the Technical Resource Center (one percent).  
 
  

Fund Estimate for  
FY 24-25 

Forecast for  
FY 26-27 

Formula $242.7 M $266.1 M 

Discretionary  $13.5 M $14.8 M 

Intercommunity Discretionary  $10.8 M $11.8 M 

Technical Resource Center $2.7M $3.0M 



STIF Allocation Estimate   Page 3 of 5 
Corrected, Sept. 16, 2022 

Correction: Adjustment of Base Allocation 

 

Qualified Entity FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027
Baker County 296,904$        307,920$        326,052$        337,195$        
Basin Transit Service District 1,117,488$     1,175,471$     1,227,903$     1,286,565$     

In district 878,359$        923,575$        965,132$        1,010,875$     
Out of district Klamath County 239,129$        251,896$        262,771$        275,690$        

Benton County 2,340,165$     2,460,411$     2,571,339$     2,692,986$     
Burns Paiute Tribe 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Columbia County 628,627$        661,561$        690,752$        724,076$        
Confederated Tribes of Coos, Lower Umpqua and Siuslaw 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Confederated Tribes of Grand Ronde Community of Oregon 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Coos County 1,154,317$     1,214,052$     1,268,365$     1,328,798$     
Coquille Indian Tribe 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Crook County 425,163$        442,647$        466,976$        484,661$        
Curry County 330,228$        342,924$        362,666$        375,509$        
Deschutes County 4,798,843$     5,045,497$     5,272,903$     5,522,431$     
Gilliam County 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Grant County Transportation District 194,378$        194,236$        213,151$        212,934$        
Harney County 194,378$        194,177$        213,151$        212,868$        
Hood River County Transportation District 651,259$        680,144$        715,398$        744,616$        
Jefferson County 371,851$        386,646$        408,399$        423,365$        
Josephine County 1,378,995$     1,450,603$     1,515,251$     1,587,699$     
Klamath Tribes 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Lake County 196,106$        198,712$        215,051$        217,707$        
Lane Transit District 8,245,647$     8,670,454$     9,060,244$     9,490,010$     

In district 7,663,015$     8,056,883$     8,420,015$     8,818,473$     
Out of district Lane County 582,633$        613,571$        640,230$        671,536$        

Lincoln County 831,756$        874,883$        913,937$        957,570$        
Linn County 2,452,661$     2,579,364$     2,694,977$     2,823,161$     
Malheur County 602,964$        632,870$        662,364$        692,688$        
Morrow County 409,526$        426,221$        449,795$        466,682$        
Rogue Valley Transportation District 4,722,346$     4,965,728$     5,188,876$     5,435,099$     

In district 4,212,192$     4,428,480$     4,628,289$     4,847,096$     
Out of district Jackson County 510,154$        537,248$        560,587$        588,003$        

Salem Area Mass Transit District 9,961,283$     10,473,790$   10,945,341$   11,463,825$   
In district 6,786,415$     7,134,154$     7,456,775$     7,808,558$     
Out of district Marion County 2,357,286$     2,479,288$     2,590,188$     2,713,618$     
Out of district Polk County 817,581$        860,348$        898,378$        941,649$        

Sherman County 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Sunset Empire Transportation District (Clatsop County) 854,172$        898,211$        938,558$        983,112$        
Tillamook County Transportation District 483,271$        504,140$        530,822$        551,922$        
Tri County Metropolitan Transportation District 66,766,475$   70,176,573$   73,361,180$   76,810,861$   

In district 63,411,056$   66,647,785$   69,674,255$   72,948,540$   
Out of district Clackamas County 2,522,731$     2,653,019$     2,771,968$     2,903,779$     
Out of district Multnomah County 77,798$          81,856$          85,486$          89,592$          
Out of district Washington County 754,890$        793,911$        829,471$        868,950$        

Umatilla County 1,532,760$     1,611,934$     1,684,192$     1,764,292$     
Umpqua Public Transportation District (Douglas County) 1,960,570$     2,062,048$     2,154,276$     2,256,943$     
Union County 481,562$        501,889$        528,944$        549,506$        
Wallowa County 194,378$        195,374$        213,151$        214,178$        
Wasco County 577,622$        602,794$        634,489$        659,951$        
Wheeler County 194,378$        194,378$        213,151$        213,151$        
Yamhill County 1,921,478$     2,020,904$     2,111,321$     2,211,911$     
Totals Statewide 118,409,703$ 124,284,710$ 130,097,632$ 136,040,928$ 

Program Totals (Population + Payroll)



STIF Allocation Estimate   Page 4 of 5 
Corrected, Sept. 16, 2022 

 

Qualified Entity FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027
Baker County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Basin Transit Service District 175,781$      186,273$      193,206$      203,832$      

In district 99,379$        105,310$      109,230$      115,237$      
Out of district Klamath County 76,402$        80,963$        83,976$        88,594$        

Benton County 241,043$      255,431$      264,938$      279,508$      
Burns Paiute Tribe 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Columbia County 133,176$      141,125$      146,378$      154,428$      
Confederated Tribes of Coos, Lower Umpqua and Siuslaw 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Confederated Tribes of Grand Ronde Community of Oregon 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Coos County 164,425$      174,240$      180,725$      190,664$      
Coquille Indian Tribe 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Crook County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Curry County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Deschutes County 502,054$      532,021$      551,823$      582,171$      
Gilliam County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Grant County Transportation District 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Harney County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Hood River County Transportation District 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Jefferson County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Josephine County 223,078$      236,394$      245,192$      258,677$      
Klamath Tribes 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Lake County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Lane Transit District 969,831$      1,027,721$   1,065,972$   1,124,596$   

In district 801,749$      849,606$      881,228$      929,692$      
Out of district Lane County 168,082$      178,115$      184,744$      194,905$      

Lincoln County 127,620$      135,237$      140,271$      147,985$      
Linn County 325,690$      345,131$      357,977$      377,664$      
Malheur County 81,132$        84,722$        89,003$        92,708$        
Morrow County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Rogue Valley Transportation District 565,378$      599,126$      621,425$      655,601$      

In district 417,730$      442,664$      459,140$      484,391$      
Out of district Jackson County 147,648$      156,462$      162,285$      171,210$      

Salem Area Mass Transit District 1,097,418$   1,162,923$   1,206,207$   1,272,543$   
In district 594,136$      629,600$      653,034$      688,948$      
Out of district Marion County 337,390$      357,529$      370,836$      391,231$      
Out of district Polk County 165,892$      175,794$      182,337$      192,365$      

Sherman County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Sunset Empire Transportation District (Clatsop County) 104,010$      110,219$      114,321$      120,608$      
Tillamook County Transportation District 78,470$        78,925$        86,048$        86,499$        
Tri County Metropolitan Transportation District 4,652,506$   4,930,215$   5,113,716$   5,394,950$   

In district 4,203,714$   4,454,634$   4,620,434$   4,874,540$   
Out of district Clackamas County 331,287$      351,062$      364,128$      384,154$      
Out of district Multnomah County 14,594$        15,465$        16,041$        16,923$        
Out of district Washington County 102,911$      109,054$      113,113$      119,334$      

Umatilla County 202,781$      214,885$      222,883$      235,141$      
Umpqua Public Transportation District (Douglas County) 281,604$      298,413$      309,520$      326,542$      
Union County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Wallowa County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Wasco County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Wheeler County 78,470$        78,470$        86,048$        86,048$        
Yamhill County 272,794$      289,077$      299,836$      316,326$      
Totals Statewide 12,082,064$ 12,685,351$ 13,274,600$ 13,885,603$ 

POPULATION Formula Breakout



STIF Allocation Estimate   Page 5 of 5 
Corrected, Sept. 16, 2022 

 

Qualified Entity FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027
Baker County 218,434$        229,450$        240,004$        251,146$        
Basin Transit Service District 941,707$        989,198$        1,034,697$     1,082,734$     

In district 778,981$        818,265$        855,902$        895,638$        
Out of district Klamath County 162,727$        170,933$        178,795$        187,096$        

Benton County 2,099,122$     2,204,980$     2,306,401$     2,413,478$     
Burns Paiute Tribe 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Columbia County 495,451$        520,436$        544,375$        569,648$        
Confederated Tribes of Coos, Lower Umpqua and Siuslaw 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Confederated Tribes of Grand Ronde Community of Oregon 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Coos County 989,892$        1,039,812$     1,087,639$     1,138,134$     
Coquille Indian Tribe 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Crook County 346,694$        364,177$        380,928$        398,613$        
Curry County 251,758$        264,454$        276,618$        289,460$        
Deschutes County 4,296,790$     4,513,476$     4,721,080$     4,940,260$     
Gilliam County 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Grant County Transportation District 115,908$        115,767$        127,102$        126,885$        
Harney County 115,908$        115,707$        127,102$        126,820$        
Hood River County Transportation District 572,789$        601,675$        629,349$        658,568$        
Jefferson County 293,381$        308,176$        322,351$        337,316$        
Josephine County 1,155,917$     1,214,210$     1,270,059$     1,329,023$     
Klamath Tribes 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Lake County 117,637$        120,243$        129,003$        131,659$        
Lane Transit District 7,275,816$     7,642,733$     7,994,272$     8,365,413$     

In district 6,861,266$     7,207,277$     7,538,787$     7,888,781$     
Out of district Lane County 414,550$        435,456$        455,485$        476,632$        

Lincoln County 704,136$        739,645$        773,667$        809,585$        
Linn County 2,126,971$     2,234,233$     2,337,000$     2,445,498$     
Malheur County 521,832$        548,148$        573,361$        599,980$        
Morrow County 331,056$        347,751$        363,747$        380,634$        
Rogue Valley Transportation District 4,156,967$     4,366,602$     4,567,450$     4,779,498$     

In district 3,794,461$     3,985,815$     4,169,149$     4,362,705$     
Out of district Jackson County 362,506$        380,787$        398,302$        416,793$        

Salem Area Mass Transit District 8,863,865$     9,310,867$     9,739,134$     10,191,282$   
In district 6,192,279$     6,504,554$     6,803,741$     7,119,610$     
Out of district Marion County 2,019,896$     2,121,759$     2,219,352$     2,322,387$     
Out of district Polk County 651,690$        684,554$        716,041$        749,284$        

Sherman County 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Sunset Empire Transportation District (Clatsop County) 750,162$        787,993$        824,238$        862,503$        
Tillamook County Transportation District 404,802$        425,216$        444,774$        465,423$        
Tri County Metropolitan Transportation District 62,113,968$   65,246,357$   68,247,464$   71,415,911$   

In district 59,207,343$   62,193,151$   65,053,820$   68,074,000$   
Out of district Clackamas County 2,191,444$     2,301,958$     2,407,840$     2,519,626$     
Out of district Multnomah County 63,204$          66,391$          69,445$          72,669$          
Out of district Washington County 651,978$        684,857$        716,358$        749,616$        

Umatilla County 1,329,979$     1,397,049$     1,461,309$     1,529,151$     
Umpqua Public Transportation District (Douglas County) 1,678,965$     1,763,635$     1,844,756$     1,930,401$     
Union County 403,092$        423,420$        442,896$        463,457$        
Wallowa County 115,908$        116,904$        127,102$        128,130$        
Wasco County 499,152$        524,324$        548,441$        573,903$        
Wheeler County 115,908$        115,908$        127,102$        127,102$        
Yamhill County 1,648,684$     1,731,827$     1,811,485$     1,895,584$     
Totals Statewide 106,327,638$ 111,599,359$ 116,823,032$ 122,155,324$ 

PAYROLL Formula Breakout



Page 1 of 40

STIF Plan 2023-25
 STIF Program Guidebook
 STIF Plan Application Instructions

For alternative formats / accessibility questions please reach out to:The Regional Transit 
Coordinator in your region or Brian Roth: brian.roth@odot.oregon.gov

1. Qualified Entity
Qualified Entity Name
Morrow County

Qualified Entity Address

Address Line 1

City State Zip Code

STIF Plan Contact Name
Katie Imes

STIF Plan Contact Title
Transit Manager

STIF Plan Contact Email 
kimes@co.morrow.or.us

STIF Plan Contact Phone Number 
(541) 676-5667

Employer Identification Number (EIN)
93-6002308

 

Will any of the projects in this STIF Plan use funds jointly managed with one or more other 
Qualified Entities?
No

110 N. Court St.

Heppner Oregon 97836

https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Fund_Program_Guidebook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Fund_Program_Guidebook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Fund_Program_Guidebook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Fund_Program_Guidebook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Fund_Program_Guidebook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/RPTD%20Committee%20Meeting%20Documents/2023-25-STIF-Plan-Application-Instructions.pdf
mailto:brian.roth@odot.oregon.gov


Page 2 of 40

1.2 Sub-Recipients in STIF Plan
Provider 1
Are any Sub-Recipients included in this STIF Plan? 
No

Provider Name
Morrow County

2. Advisory Committees
2.1 Advisory Committee Website
 By checking this box, I agree that all Advisory Committee requirements of OARs 732-040-0030, 
732-040-0035 and 732-042-0020 have been met, including, but not limited to: required 
constituencies, written bylaws, public meetings, and STIF Plan project review and prioritization.

Advisory Committee Web Address
https://www.co.morrow.or.us/theloop/page/morrow-county-public-transit-advisory-committee

Did the QE’s Advisory Committee or Governing Body convene an optional work group as outlined 
in OAR 732-040-0030?
 Yes

 No

3. Local Plan Compliance
3.1 Existing Local Plans from which project(s) are derived.
Local Plan 1
Local Plan Name
Morrow County Coordinated Human 
Services Transportation Plan

Governing Body that adopted 
Local Plan
Morrow County Commissioners

Plan Adoption Date
10/19/2022

Local Plan Web Address
https://www.co.morrow.or.us/theloop/page/transit-development-plan

Local Plan 2
Local Plan Name
Hermiston-Boardman 
Connector/Boardman-Port of Morrow 
Circular Report

Governing Body that adopted 
Local Plan
Morrow County Commissioners

Plan Adoption Date
9/15/2021

Local Plan Web Address



Page 3 of 40

https://www.co.morrow.or.us/theloop/page/transit-development-plan

3.2 Local Plan requirements
I agree that all Local Plans are consistent with the STIF requirements specified in OAR 732-040-
0005(18)
 Yes

 No, one or more Local Plans are not yet consistent with STIF rule requirements.

4. Accountability
You may insert a web address in place of a description or document upload, as long as the information is 
sufficient enough to warrant approval of the STIF Plan and comply with STIF Rule.

4.1 Accountability methods
 By checking this box, I affirm that all of the necessary policies and procedures are in place to 
provide reasonable assurance that compliance with OAR 732, Divisions 40 and 42 is met, and to 
achieve the goals and outcomes specified in this STIF Plan, including, but not limited to: program 
and financial management, operations management, procurement, use and maintenance of 
equipment, records retention, compliance with state and federal laws, civil rights, and compliance 
with ADA.

 By checking this box, I affirm that all of the necessary policies and procedures are in place to 
provide reasonable assurance that compliance of all Sub-Recipients with OAR 732, Divisions 40 
and 42 is met to achieve the goals and outcomes specified in this STIF Plan, address deficiencies 
in Sub-Recipient performance, and to provide reasonable assurance that the Qualified Entity can 
accomplish the applicable requirements of these rules, including but not limited to: audit and 
compliance requirements, accounting requirements, capital asset requirements, and reporting 
requirements.

4.2 Sub-Allocation method
 By checking this box, I affirm that all data used to develop the sub-allocation method was shared 
with each Public Transportation Service Provider and other potential sub-recipients, as relevant.

Describe the Qualified Entity’s method for sub-allocating STIF Formula Fund moneys and the 
collaborative process used to work with Public Transportation Service Providers and other 
potential Sub-Recipients, as relevant, to develop the sub-allocation method.
N/A

Limit 1000 Characters

4.3 High Percentage of Low-Income Households
Explain how the STIF Plan defines and identifies communities with a high percentage of Low-
Income Households.



Page 4 of 40

An area is determined to have a high percentage of low-income households when its proportion of 
population with income is at or below 200% of the Federal poverty level and is greater than the State of 
Oregon's as a whole. Morrow County identifies low-income households through Census.gov database. 
Through referencing this data, Morrow County has identified four communities with low income 
households, they are Boardman 44.1%, Irrigon 43.7%, Lexington 34.25% and Heppner 35.63%. Oregon's 
average of low-income households is 35%, therefore each of these communities is defined to have a high 
percentage of low-income households.

Limit 1000 Characters

5. STIF Plan Period and Adoption
5.1 Period Covered By STIF Plan
Provide start and end dates for projects proposed for funding in this STIF Plan. The earliest possible start 
date is July 1, 2023.

Start Date:
7/1/2023

End Date
6/30/2025

5.2 STIF Plan Adoption
STIF Plan Advisory Committee recommendation 
date
10/18/2022

STIF Plan Governing Body adoption date
12/14/2022

Website where Governing Body adoption document is located
https://www.co.morrow.or.us/theloop/page/mc-public-transit-advisory-committee-meeting-minutes

Did the Governing Body modify the Advisory Committee's recommended STIF Plan?
No

6. Projects
Beginning this cycle, you may now upload Sub-Recipient Project Applications instead of manually entering 
the information for each sub-recipient. All uploaded Sub-Recipient Project Applications must be approved 
by the Qualified Entity’s Governing Body, and will be recognized as part of the Qualified Entity’s STIF Plan.

In addition to this, any Qualified Entities with their own STIF Plan projects may enter that information 
directly into the STIF Plan, or may choose to upload their own Sub-Recipient Project Application. In all 
cases, you cannot split information for a single entity between the STIF Plan and an uploaded Sub-
Recipient Project Application. All project information for a given entity must be contained either solely 
within the Sub-Recipient Project Application or STIF Plan itself.

Important note: If you’d like to use this optional upload feature, please enter the total amount from each 
Sub-Recipient Project Application in the conditional boxes that will appear below (this information can be 
found in the last section of the Sub-Recipient Project Application). This will ensure that the sum of all 
Qualified Entity and sub-recipient projects are included in STIF Plan section 7. STIF Plan Summary.

Would you like to upload any approved Sub-Recipient Project Applications for this STIF Plan?



Page 5 of 40

 Yes

 No

6.1 Project Detail Entry
Project 1
Qualified Entity or Sub-Recipient Name
Morrow County

Project Name
Match for Capital Projects

Limit 50 characters
Project Description
Funds capital projects in the following priority:
1) Up to $26,000 for local match on capital vehicles;
2) Up to $50,000 for local match to develop and construction of a bus barn/transit facility;
3) Up to $45,000 for bus stop signage, shelters, and passenger amenities;

Limit 1000 Characters
Is this project intended for services benefiting seniors and individuals with disabilities (formerly 
STF)?
 Yes

 No

Do you plan to expend funding in a future STIF 
Plan period?
 Yes

 No

Project budget share to improve, expand or maintain public 
transportation service
Improve or Expand Service
90%

Maintain Service
10%

If project is maintaining an existing service, describe rationale.
maintain safe, reliable fleet for our demand response program.

Limit 500 Characters
Local Plan from which this project is derived:
Morrow County Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation Plan

Local Plan page 
number
pg. 50

Multi-Phase Project
Is your project part of a larger, multi-phase Project Timeline



Page 6 of 40

project?
Yes

2021-2026
2021-2026

Total Project Budget (All Phases)
$2,848,000.00

Other Planned Funding Sources
 STIF   Federal    Other State   Local  

Phase represented in current STIF Plan
Phase II - New Transit Facility - Project Administration

Example: This is phase one of the project, which includes service start up and service element refinement.
Limit 200 Characters

6.1.1 Project Scope
Task 1
Task Description
Local match for one vehicle as follows:
1 - Cat. E3 van (replacement for demand response service)
2- Cat. E vans (replacement for demand response service)

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

 By checking this box, I affirm that all projects requesting funds for capital expenses are in 
compliance with the Capital Asset Requirements outlined in OAR 732-042-0040.

What type of capital vehicle purchases are included in this task? 



Page 7 of 40

 Replacement

 Expansion

 Lease

 Rebuild

 Vehicle Overhaul

Vehicle Replacement 11.12
Replacement Vehicle Information
1. Vehicles to be Replaced

Year Make/Model Category VIN Total 
Seats / 
ADA Seats

Current Miles

2,018 Dodge/Caravan E 
(11.XX.15
)

2C7WDGBG1JR22498
6

4/1
Ex. 24/2

93,242

2,016 Dodge/Caravan E 
(11.XX.15
)

2C4RDGBG3GR14367
0

7/0
Ex. 24/2

117,627

2,015 Dodge/Caravan E 
(11.XX.15
)

2C4RDGCG8FR56999
6

7/0
Ex. 24/2

129,687

2. Condition of Vehicles
VIN Condition Vehicle Maintenance History (Issues, 

Repairs, etc.)

2C7WDGBG1JR224986 Adequate Regular preventative maintenance, Annual 
DOT inspections, Annual wheelchair ramp 
inspections, and rock chip repairs.

2C4RDGBG3GR143670 Marginal Regular preventative maintenance, Annual 
DOT inspections, and rock chip repairs.

2C4RDGCG8FR569996 Marginal Regular preventative maintenance, Annual 
DOT inspections, and rock chip repairs.

11.12 Vehicle Information
Vehicle ALI Make/Mod Quanti Cost Each Total Lengt # of # of Fuel Syste



Page 8 of 40

el ty h seats / 
# ADA 
statio
ns

seats 
with 
ADA 

deploy
ed

m

11.12.15 Vans Chrysler/
Pacifica

1 $75,000.0
0

$75,000.0
0

<20' 5/1
eg 20/2

5 Hybrid-
Gas

11.12.15 Vans Toyota/Se
nnia

2 $45,000.0
0

$90,000.0
0

<20' 7/0
eg 20/2

7 Hybrid-
Gas

    $165,000.0
0

    

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $26,000.00  $26,000.00

Federal $0.00  $0.00

Other State $0.00  $0.00

Local $0.00  $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

  $0.00

 $26,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $26,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.



Page 9 of 40

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure
Capital Improvements Completed

Number of Units:
3

 

Task 2
Task Description
Local match for the development and construction of a bus barn/transit facility

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Project Administration Task 
Category



Page 10 of 40

Task Category Amount
$50,000.00

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $50,000.00  $50,000.00

Federal $0.00  $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

  $0.00

 $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure



Page 11 of 40

Plans Created

Number of Units:
1

 

Task 3
Task Description
This project is to provide bus stop shelters, signage, and installation of passenger amenities. These 
improvements will benefit all riders including students grades 9-12 who will be first-time target 
constituents of Morrow County public transit.

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

 By checking this box, I affirm that all projects requesting funds for capital expenses are in 
compliance with the Capital Asset Requirements outlined in OAR 732-042-0040.

Signs/Shelters Purchase
Signs/Shelters Information
Description Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost

Shelters 4 $8,000.00 $32,000.00



Page 12 of 40

Shelter Installation 4 $1,000.00 $4,000.00

Signs (includes poles and installation) 15 $600.00 $9,000.00

   $45,000.00

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $22,500.00 $22,500.00 $45,000.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

  $0.00

 $22,500.00 $22,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $45,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types



Page 13 of 40

Other Measure
Capital Improvements Completed

Number of Units:
4 bus stop shelters and 15 bus stop signs

 

6.2 Allocation of STIF funds by project
Please identify what percentage of this STIF project budget is allocated to each of the criteria listed below 
by fiscal year.

Note: More information about requirements for criterion #7 can be found in OAR 732-042-0015(3)(j). 
More information about requirements for criterion #8 can be found in OAR 732-042-0010(1)(a).

STIF Criteria

1. Increased frequency of bus service to areas with a high percentage of Low-Income Households.

2. Expansion of bus routes and bus services to serve areas with a high percentage of Low-Income 
Households.

3. Fund the implementation of programs to reduce fares for public transportation in communities with a 
high percentage of Low-Income Households.

4. Procurement of low or no emission buses for use in areas with 200,000 or more.

5. The improvement in the frequency and reliability of service between communities inside and outside of 
the Qualified Entity’s service area.

6. Coordination between Public Transportation Service Providers to reduce fragmentation in the provision 
of transportation services.

7. Implementation of programs to provide student transit service for students in grades 9-12.

8. Services for older adults and people with disabilities.

FY 2024 STIF Total
$98,500.00

FY 2025 STIF Total
$22,500.00

Fund Allocation (Must not exceed 100% per criterion per fiscal 
year)
If some criteria don't apply, fill in with zeros. Do not add or remove additional criterion.

Criterion FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027

Criterion 1 45.0% 15.0%

Criterion 2 15.0% 45.0%

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926


Page 14 of 40

Criterion 3 0.0% 0.0%

Criterion 4 0.0% 0.0%

Criterion 5 15.0% 15.0%

Criterion 6 10.0% 10.0%

Criterion 7 5.0% 5.0%

Criterion 8 10.0% 10.0%

 100.00% 100.00% 0.00% 0.00%

6.3 Oregon Public Transportation Plan Goals
Select at least one goal. 

For more information about these goals, please refer to page eight of the Oregon Public 
Transportation Plan.
Select the OPTP goals that apply to your STIF Plan Projects.
 Goal 1 Mobility: Public Transportation User Experience

 Goal 2: Accessibility and Connectivity

 Goal 3: Community Livability and Economic Vitality

 Goal 4: Equity

 Goal 5: Health

 Goal 6: Safety and Security

 Goal 7: Environmental Sustainability

 Goal 8: Land Use

 Goal 9: Funding and Strategic Investment

 Goal 10: Communication, Collaboration, and Coordination

6.4 Project Summary
Project Name
Match for Capital Projects

STIF Project Grand Total
$121,000.00
Includes FY  21-23 Unspent 
Funds, Interest Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2024 STIF Project 
Total
$98,500.00

FY 2025 STIF Project 
Total
$22,500.00

https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf


Page 15 of 40

Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

Funds Supporting Student Transportation
FY 2024 percent of STIF 
Funds supporting 
student transportation
5%

FY 2025 percent of 
STIF Funds supporting 
student transportation
5%

 Funds Supporting Older and Disabled Persons Transportation

 Funds from Previous Biennia
FY 2024 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$0.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$0.00
Includes FY 21-
23 Unspent Funds, 
Interest Accrued, 
Program Reserve

Project 2
Qualified Entity or Sub-Recipient Name
Morrow County

Project Name
Capital Reserve

Limit 50 characters
Project Description
Preserving capital investments by STIF Discretionary and Formula. In order of priority, the following 
projects will have our remaining resources (and those carried over) placed in reserve. 

1) Unanticipated match requirement increases;
2) Unanticipated equipment investments;
3) Capital Replacement Plan.

Limit 1000 Characters
Is this project intended for services benefiting seniors and individuals with disabilities (formerly 
STF)?



Page 16 of 40

 Yes

 No

Do you plan to expend funding in a future STIF 
Plan period?
 Yes

 No

Project budget share to improve, expand or maintain public 
transportation service
Improve or Expand Service
50%

Maintain Service
50%

If project is maintaining an existing service, describe rationale.
In the event Morrow County requires additional match, equipment or vehicle replacement/expansion, 
this project will assist with any unanticipated shortfall. All tasks will support our demand response 
program and our fixed route program.

Limit 500 Characters
Local Plan from which this project is derived:
Morrow County Coordinated Human Services Transportation Plan

Local Plan page 
number
pg. 50

Multi-Phase Project
Is your project part of a larger, multi-phase 
project?
No

6.1.1 Project Scope
Task 1
Task Description
Match requirements for State and Federal grant opportunities.

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase



Page 17 of 40

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Program Reserve Task 
Category
Task Category Amount
$20,000.00

 

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF   $0.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00



Page 18 of 40

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

$10,000.00 $10,000.00 $20,000.00

 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure
Reserve Funds Created

Number of Units:
N/A

 

Task 2
Task Description
Capital equipment investments

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00



Page 19 of 40

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

 By checking this box, I affirm that all projects requesting funds for capital expenses are in 
compliance with the Capital Asset Requirements outlined in OAR 732-042-0040.

Equipment Purchase
Equipment Information
Description Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost

General equipment that supports transit 
operations

1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00

   $20,000.00

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF   $0.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

$10,000.00 $10,000.00 $20,000.00



Page 20 of 40

 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure
Reserve Funds Created

Number of Units:
N/A

 

Task 3
Task Description
Capital Replacement Plan

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)



Page 21 of 40

Program Reserve Task 
Category
Task Category Amount
$20,000.00

 

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF   $0.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

$10,000.00 $10,000.00 $20,000.00

 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1



Page 22 of 40

All Project Types

Other Measure
Reserve Funds Created

Number of Units:
N/A

 

6.2 Allocation of STIF funds by project
Please identify what percentage of this STIF project budget is allocated to each of the criteria listed below 
by fiscal year.

Note: More information about requirements for criterion #7 can be found in OAR 732-042-0015(3)(j). 
More information about requirements for criterion #8 can be found in OAR 732-042-0010(1)(a).

STIF Criteria

1. Increased frequency of bus service to areas with a high percentage of Low-Income Households.

2. Expansion of bus routes and bus services to serve areas with a high percentage of Low-Income 
Households.

3. Fund the implementation of programs to reduce fares for public transportation in communities with a 
high percentage of Low-Income Households.

4. Procurement of low or no emission buses for use in areas with 200,000 or more.

5. The improvement in the frequency and reliability of service between communities inside and outside of 
the Qualified Entity’s service area.

6. Coordination between Public Transportation Service Providers to reduce fragmentation in the provision 
of transportation services.

7. Implementation of programs to provide student transit service for students in grades 9-12.

8. Services for older adults and people with disabilities.

FY 2024 STIF Total
$30,000.00

FY 2025 STIF Total
$30,000.00

Fund Allocation (Must not exceed 100% per criterion per fiscal 
year)
If some criteria don't apply, fill in with zeros. Do not add or remove additional criterion.

Criterion FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027

Criterion 1 20.0% 20.0%

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926


Page 23 of 40

Criterion 2 10.0% 10.0%

Criterion 3 0.0% 0.0%

Criterion 4 0.0% 0.0%

Criterion 5 30.0% 30.0%

Criterion 6 5.0% 5.0%

Criterion 7 5.0% 5.0%

Criterion 8 30.0% 30.0%

 100.00% 100.00% 0.00% 0.00%

6.3 Oregon Public Transportation Plan Goals
Select at least one goal. 

For more information about these goals, please refer to page eight of the Oregon Public 
Transportation Plan.
Select the OPTP goals that apply to your STIF Plan Projects.
 Goal 1 Mobility: Public Transportation User Experience

 Goal 2: Accessibility and Connectivity

 Goal 3: Community Livability and Economic Vitality

 Goal 4: Equity

 Goal 5: Health

 Goal 6: Safety and Security

 Goal 7: Environmental Sustainability

 Goal 8: Land Use

 Goal 9: Funding and Strategic Investment

 Goal 10: Communication, Collaboration, and Coordination

6.4 Project Summary
Project Name
Capital Reserve

STIF Project Grand Total
$60,000.00
Includes FY  21-23 Unspent 
Funds, Interest Accrued, Program 
Reserve

https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf


Page 24 of 40

FY 2024 STIF Project 
Total
$30,000.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 STIF Project 
Total
$30,000.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

Funds Supporting Student Transportation
FY 2024 percent of STIF 
Funds supporting 
student transportation
5%

FY 2025 percent of 
STIF Funds supporting 
student transportation
5%

 Funds Supporting Older and Disabled Persons Transportation

 Funds from Previous Biennia
FY 2024 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$30,000.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$30,000.00
Includes FY 21-
23 Unspent Funds, 
Interest Accrued, 
Program Reserve

Project 3
Qualified Entity or Sub-Recipient Name
Morrow County

Project Name
Operations Projects

Limit 50 characters
Project Description
Delivers the operations and match for Morrow County Public Transit - The Loop program necessary to 
preserve and expand existing services in the following priority.

Limit 1000 Characters
Is this project intended for services benefiting seniors and individuals with disabilities (formerly 
STF)?
 Yes



Page 25 of 40

 No

Do you plan to expend funding in a future STIF 
Plan period?
 Yes

 No

Project budget share to improve, expand or maintain public 
transportation service
Improve or Expand Service
30%

Maintain Service
70%

If project is maintaining an existing service, describe rationale.
Retain drivers and maintain operations for demand response program.

Limit 500 Characters
Local Plan from which this project is derived:
Morrow County Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation Plan

Local Plan page 
number
pg. 49 & 50

Multi-Phase Project
Is your project part of a larger, multi-phase 
project?
No

6.1.1 Project Scope
Task 1
Task Description
Supports the ongoing expenses of delivering public transit services in Morrow County that were 
established under the first cycle of STIF Formula, STIF Discretionary awards and STF Formula.

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00



Page 26 of 40

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Specify the mode that this task will support.
 Fixed Route   Demand Response  

Operations Task Category
Task Category Amount
$582,000.00

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $232,004.00 $232,004.00 $464,008.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

$58,996.00 $58,996.00 $117,992.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

$0.00  $0.00



Page 27 of 40

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

 $291,000.00 $291,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $582,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Minimum required measures for operations tasks
Revenue Miles
48,000

Revenue Hours
2,400.00

Rides
1,200

Number of people with access to transit (within ½ mile of transit stop for fixed route)
0

Number of Low-Income Households with access to transit (within ½ mile of transit stop for fixed 
route)
0

Number of new shared stops with other transit providers (reducing fragmentation in transit 
services)
0

Is this project supporting student transportation?
No

Is this project supporting services for older adults and people with disabilities?
Yes

Outcome Measures for Older Adults and People with 
Disabilities
Outcome 1 Placeholder for older adults and people with disabilities
Operations for Demand Response Service

Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Task 2
Task Description
Provides the match for 5310,5311 and STIF Discretionary grant programs.

Examples: 



Page 28 of 40

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Program Reserve Task 
Category
Task Category Amount
$330,445.00

 

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $165,222.50 $165,222.50 $330,445.00

Federal $430,200.00 $271,671.00 $701,871.00

Other State $686,000.00 $686,000.00 $1,372,000.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00



Page 29 of 40

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

$16,708.50 $16,708.50 $33,417.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

$5,836.00 $5,836.00 $11,672.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

 $1,303,967.00 $1,145,438.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,449,405.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure
Reserve Funds Created

Number of Units:
N/A

 

Task 3
Task Description
Development and delivery of brand materials for promotion, outreach, and marketing.

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase



Page 30 of 40

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Communications Task 
Category
Task Category Amount
$15,000.00

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $15,000.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00



Page 31 of 40

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

  $0.00

 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $15,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
Communications

Number of impressions (# of times a person receives the information, tracked by advertisers) 
or other measures that indicate how many people receive information about transit service.
3,000

Number of new users due to communications (could be determined by asking a question about 
how the rider learned about this service as part of a regular onboard survey)
500

All Project Types

Other Measure
Marketing Materials Created

Number of Units:
N/A

 

Task 4
Task Description
Driver Professional Development Program - CDL Assistance

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14



Page 32 of 40

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Program Reserve Task 
Category
Task Category Amount
$12,000.00

 

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00



Page 33 of 40

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

  $0.00

 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $12,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure
FTEs/Contractors Added

Number of Units:
2

 

Task 5
Task Description
Contracted Services with Good Shepherd Medical System - CareVan Transportation. This service 
provides residents living in Boardman and Irrigon free transit to Good Shepherd Medical Facilities.

Examples: 

 Purchase and installation of up to 12 branded bus stop signs.

 This task provides resources for additional peak service to accommodate increased demand 
associated with implementation of the Youth Fare program.

Limit 250 Characters
Category
 Communications 44.26.14

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Program Reserve 11.73.00



Page 34 of 40

 Project Administration 11.79.00

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

Project Administration Task 
Category

6.1.2 Expenditure Estimates
Expenditures by Fund Source and Fiscal Year
Enter estimates of all expenditures for activities in this task denoting both fund source and fiscal year of 
expenditure. Do not select more than eight fund sources.
Fund Type FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 Total

STIF $6,500.00 $6,500.00 $13,000.00

Federal   $0.00

Other State   $0.00

Local   $0.00

Other Funds   $0.00

Prior Biennia 
STIF Funds

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Interest 
Accrued

  $0.00

Prior Biennia 
Program 
Reserve

  $0.00

 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $13,000.00
 By checking this box, I confirm that this project task is only funded by STIF.

6.1.3 Outcome Measures
Outcome Measures
Please select at least one outcome measure that best reflects the benefit of this task.



Page 35 of 40

Outcome Measure 1
All Project Types

Other Measure
Services Added

Number of Units:
4

 

6.2 Allocation of STIF funds by project
Please identify what percentage of this STIF project budget is allocated to each of the criteria listed below 
by fiscal year.

Note: More information about requirements for criterion #7 can be found in OAR 732-042-0015(3)(j). 
More information about requirements for criterion #8 can be found in OAR 732-042-0010(1)(a).

STIF Criteria

1. Increased frequency of bus service to areas with a high percentage of Low-Income Households.

2. Expansion of bus routes and bus services to serve areas with a high percentage of Low-Income 
Households.

3. Fund the implementation of programs to reduce fares for public transportation in communities with a 
high percentage of Low-Income Households.

4. Procurement of low or no emission buses for use in areas with 200,000 or more.

5. The improvement in the frequency and reliability of service between communities inside and outside of 
the Qualified Entity’s service area.

6. Coordination between Public Transportation Service Providers to reduce fragmentation in the provision 
of transportation services.

7. Implementation of programs to provide student transit service for students in grades 9-12.

8. Services for older adults and people with disabilities.

FY 2024 STIF Total
$498,767.00

FY 2025 STIF Total
$498,767.00

Fund Allocation (Must not exceed 100% per criterion per fiscal 
year)
If some criteria don't apply, fill in with zeros. Do not add or remove additional criterion.

Criterion FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285927
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=285926


Page 36 of 40

Criterion 1 30.0% 30.0%

Criterion 2 10.0% 10.0%

Criterion 3 0.0% 0.0%

Criterion 4 0.0% 0.0%

Criterion 5 10.0% 10.0%

Criterion 6 10.0% 10.0%

Criterion 7 5.0% 5.0%

Criterion 8 35.0% 35.0%

 100.00% 100.00% 0.00% 0.00%

6.3 Oregon Public Transportation Plan Goals
Select at least one goal. 

For more information about these goals, please refer to page eight of the Oregon Public 
Transportation Plan.
Select the OPTP goals that apply to your STIF Plan Projects.
 Goal 1 Mobility: Public Transportation User Experience

 Goal 2: Accessibility and Connectivity

 Goal 3: Community Livability and Economic Vitality

 Goal 4: Equity

 Goal 5: Health

 Goal 6: Safety and Security

 Goal 7: Environmental Sustainability

 Goal 8: Land Use

 Goal 9: Funding and Strategic Investment

 Goal 10: Communication, Collaboration, and Coordination

6.4 Project Summary
Project Name
Operations Projects

STIF Project Grand Total
$997,534.00
Includes FY  21-23 Unspent 

https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OPTP_V1_FINAL_Feb2019.pdf


Page 37 of 40

Funds, Interest Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2024 STIF Project 
Total
$498,767.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 STIF Project 
Total
$498,767.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

Funds Supporting Student Transportation
FY 2024 percent of STIF 
Funds supporting 
student transportation
5%

FY 2025 percent of 
STIF Funds supporting 
student transportation
5%

 Funds Supporting Older and Disabled Persons Transportation

 Funds from Previous Biennia
FY 2024 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$81,540.50
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$81,540.50
Includes FY 21-
23 Unspent Funds, 
Interest Accrued, 
Program Reserve

Project 4
Qualified Entity or Sub-Recipient Name
Morrow County

Project Name
Operations Reserve

Limit 50 characters
Project Description



Page 38 of 40

Preserving services created by STIF Discretionary and Formula. In order of priority, the following 
projects will have our remaining resources (and those carried over) placed in reserve:
1) Demand Response Program - Operations
1) Boardman/Port of Morrow Circular 
2) Heppner to Boardman Connector
3) Hermiston to Boardman Connector 
5) Other emerging opportunities to come before the QE and Advisory Committee.

Limit 1000 Characters
Is this project intended for services benefiting seniors and individuals with disabilities (formerly 
STF)?
 Yes

 No

Do you plan to expend funding in a future STIF 
Plan period?
 Yes

 No

If yes, what is the expenditure amount?
$253,514.00

This will be added to the total amount of STIF funds 
requested. 

What is the project type that you are carrying forward funds for?
 Vehicle Purchase 111-00

 Equipment Purchase

 Facility Purchase

 Signs/Shelters Purchase

 Operations 30.09.01 (Operating Assistance)

 Planning 44.20.00

 Preventive Maintenance 11.7A.00

 Project Administration  11.79.00

 Mobility Management 11.7L.00

 Communications 44.26.14

 Program Reserve 11.73.00

 Capital 117-00 Other Capital Items (Bus)

6.4 Project Summary
Project Name
Operations Reserve

STIF Project Grand Total
$253,514.00
Includes FY  21-23 Unspent 
Funds, Interest Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2024 STIF Project 
Total

FY 2025 STIF Project 
Total



Page 39 of 40

$0.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

$0.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

Funds Supporting Student Transportation

 Funds Supporting Older and Disabled Persons Transportation

 Funds from Previous Biennia
FY 2024 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$0.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 STIF Funds 
From Previous Cycle
$0.00
Includes FY 21-
23 Unspent Funds, 
Interest Accrued, 
Program Reserve

7. STIF Plan Summary
STIF Plan Grand Total
$1,432,048.00
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

Amount Carried 
Forward
$253,514.00

STIF Revenue Totals for Plan Period
$1,208,967.00
Does not include FY 21-23 Unspent Funds, Interest Accrued, Program Reserve
FY 2024 Total STIF 
Funds From Previous 
Cycle
$111,540.50
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2025 Total STIF 
From Previous Cycle
$111,540.50
Includes FY 21-23 
Unspent Funds, Interest 
Accrued, Program 
Reserve

FY 2024 Total STIF 
Funds
$627,267.00

FY 2025 Total STIF 
Funds
$551,267.00

FY 2024 Student STIF 
Funds

FY 2025 Student STIF 
Funds



Page 40 of 40

$31,363.35 $27,563.35

FY 2024 Percent of STIF 
Funds supporting 
student transportation
5.00%

FY 2025 Percent of 
STIF Funds supporting 
student transportation
5.00%

FY 2024 Older and 
Disabled Persons STIF 
Funds
$193,418.45

FY 2025 Older and 
Disabled Persons STIF 
Funds
$185,818.45

Effective Date

This STIF Plan shall become effective as of the date it is approved by the Oregon Transportation 
Commission and it shall terminate as of the end date specified in Section 5 of the approved STIF Plan.

Signature

This STIF Plan serves as a legally binding agreement between the Qualified Entity and the State of 
Oregon, acting by and through its Department of Transportation.

Download the signature page here: 

STIF Plan Signature Page

https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/RPTD/Documents/STIFPlanSignaturePage.pdf


FY 2023‐2025 Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund 

Formula Fund STIF Plan Certification of Agreement 

This STIF Plan submitted by , a Qualified Entity, serves as a 
legally binding agreement between the Qualified Entity and the State of Oregon, acting by and  through 
its Department of Transportation. 

By signing below, I certify that I am authorized to execute this STIF Plan on behalf of 
, a Qualified Entity as defined in ORS 184.752 (2), under  the 

direction or approval of the Qualified Entity’s Governing Body, and to legally bind the Qualified Entity. 

I further acknowledge and represent on behalf of the Qualified Entity each of the following: 

 The Qualified Entity, through its agents, officers or employees responsible to administer the
STIF Plan and oversee completion of the projects included in the STIF Plan, has read  and
understands ORS 184.751 through ORS 184.766 and OAR chapter 732, divisions 40 and 42;

 The Qualified Entity agrees to be bound by ORS 184.751 through ORS 184.766 and OAR
chapter 732, divisions 40 and 42 and any other laws applicable to STIF Formula Fund
program administration and to the completion of the projects described in this STIF Plan;

 The associated STIF Plan is complete and includes all of the required
documentation and information;

 The STIF Plan does not contain and is not based on any false or fraudulent information;

 The STIF Plan does not contain any statement or representation that is untrue in whole  or part;

 The STIF Plan does not omit information that could have a material effect on the value, validity
or authenticity of the STIF Formula Fund distributions made to the Qualified Entity;

 The Qualified Entity agrees to deliver the project(s) described in this STIF Plan within the
identified timelines; and

 The Qualified Entity understands that it may request STIF Formula Fund distributions from
the Oregon Department of Transportation after the Oregon Transportation Commission has
approved the STIF Plan, but may not make a request prior to July 1, 2023.

 Payments to the Qualified Entity are conditioned on the Qualified Entity satisfying all terms
and conditions of this agreement.

 The Qualified Entity is required to repay, in full, any distributions paid to the Qualified Entity
if the Oregon Transportation Commission determines that the recipient has failed to meet
any terms or conditions of this agreement.

Name of authorized representative:   

Authorized representative signature:   

Date of authorized representative’s certification, acknowledgment and representation: 



 

Page | 1 
 

  

THE LOOP - MORROW COUNTY PUBLIC TRANSIT 
P.O. Box 495  Heppner, Oregon 97836  (541) 676-5667  1-855-644-4560 

 
 

Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund Plan 
Fiscal Years 2023-2025 

 
Executive Summary of Projects and Estimated STIF Revenue 

 
ODOT Estimated Revenue                            $835,747 
20% Contingency added per DOR        $167,149 
Prior STIF revenue (carryover & interest)      $223,081 
Grand Total Revenue                 $1,225,977 

 
 

 
1. Capital Projects 

a. Local Match for Transit Facility Project Administration (5339) $50,000 
b. Local match for capital vehicles (STIF Disc./5339 Disc.) $26,000 
c. Bus stop signage, shelters, and passenger amenities $45,000 

 
 

     Capital Projects Total = $121,000 
 
 

2. Capital Reserve 
a. Unanticipated match requirements for State or Federal funding $20,000 
b. Unanticipated equipment investments $20,000 
c. Capital Replacement Plan $20,000 

 
         Capital Reserve Projects Total = $60,000 

 
3. Operations Projects  

a. Transit Operations/Drivers $582,000 (includes prior biennia STIF funds) 
b. Local Match for State and Federal funding (5310,5311, STIF Disc.) $375,534 

(includes prior biennia STIF funds & interest accrued) 
c. Marketing and Outreach $15,000 
d. Driver Professional Development Program $12,000 
e. Carevan Contracted Services $13,000 
f. Other emerging opportunities to come before the QE and Advisory Committee 

 
         Operations Projects Total = $997,534 

 
      Grand Total Projects 1,2 & 3 = $1,178,534 



 

Page | 2 
 

 
 
 

 
4. Operations Reserve – Est. Carry Over Funds from prior STIF cycles $253,514 

 
1) Demand Response Program - Operations 
2) Boardman – Port of Morrow Circular  
3) Heppner to Boardman Connector  
4) Hermiston Boardman Connector  

 

































WILLOW CREEK  
VALLEY   
HOUSING  
IMPLEMENTATION 
STRATEGY

October 2022

Prepared for  
Morrow County  
and the Cities of Heppner, 
Ione, and Lexington



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally blank 
  



Table of Contents 

A. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE ............................................................................................................................ 1 

B. IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWORK ......................................................................................................................... 2 

C. ACTION SHEETS .................................................................................................................................................... 7 

APPENDIX A. GRANTS/LOANS FOR WATER INFRASTRUCTURE .......................................................................... A-1 

APPENDIX B. FLOOD PLAIN MAPS ........................................................................................................................ B-1 

APPENDIX C. BACKGROUND REPORT .................................................................................................................. C-1 
 
  



Acknowledgements 

§ Teresa Penninger (Oregon Department of Transportation representative) 

§ City of Madras (regarding Housing Incentive District) 

§ City of John Day (regarding Housing Incentive District) 

§ Courtney Crowell (Regional Solutions Coordinator, Eastern Oregon) 

§ Julie Keniry (Rural Engagement and Vitality Center, Eastern Oregon University) 

§ Kim Cutsforth (Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group) 

§ Josh Bruce (University of Oregon/IPRE) 

§ Ryan Degrofft and Melissa Drugge (Business Oregon) 

§ Susan Christiansen (Greater Eastern Oregon Economic Development Corporation) 

§ Commissioner Melissa Lindsay (Morrow County) 

§ George Nairns (Morrow County) 

§ Dawn Hert (DLCD Regional Representative – Eastern Oregon) 

 
 

Advisory Committee 

§ Kraig Cutsforth (City of Heppner) 

§ Veronica Hess (City of Lexington) 

§ Councilor Katie Imes (City of Lexington) 

§ Tamra Mabbott (Morrow County) 

§ Elizabeth Peterson (City of Ione) 

 

Consultant Team 

§ Nicole Underwood (ECONorthwest) 

§ Emily Picha (ECONorthwest) 

§ Brad Baird (Anderson Perry & Associates) 

 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  1 

A. Introduction and Purpose  

The Cities of Ione, Lexington, and Heppner have worked 

over the past 20 years to increase housing production in 

the Willow Creek Valley. Many of the new housing units 

have been the result of a public-private partnership 

between the Willow Creek Valley Economic Development 

Group (WCVEDG) and the Ione Community Agri-

Business Organization (ICABO). While that formula has 

produced some new housing, the lack of infrastructure 

along with a lack of developer capacity in the area has 

caused housing development to stall.  

 

Cities across Oregon are struggling to attract housing 

development, especially development that would be 

suited to low- and middle-income families. Findings from 

stakeholders indicate that the biggest barriers to housing development in the area include a lack 

of developer capacity, along with a lack of capacity to advocate for and pursue additional 

funding for infrastructure and amenities.  

 
The cities have contracts with Anderson Perry & Associates (a civil engineering firm) to develop 

a plan to address water and wastewater infrastructure deficiencies. However, other barriers to 

housing development remain:  

§ Lack of city capacity and expertise to pursue planning projects 

and grant opportunities 

§ Lack of developer capacity in the region to build housing 

§ Lack of available funding for infrastructure and desired 

amenities 

This Implementation Plan outlines a set of interventions for the cities to 

pursue to address the Willow Creek Valley’s housing needs. 

  

The 2019 Morrow County Housing 
Strategies Report identified a number of 
strategies to support housing development 
throughout the county. The goal of this 
Housing Implementation Plan is to help the 
Cities of Heppner, Ione, and Lexington 
advance two strategies identified in that 
report: 
 
Land Supply Strategy 1: Evaluate and 
Address Infrastructure Issues in the cities 
of Ione, Lexington, and Heppner. 
  
Code Strategy 2: Enhance Local Amenities 
and Services. Garner local input on city 
amenities that residents desire to enhance 
livability in each town. 

The Background Report, 
included in Appendix C, 
summarizes information 
on the housing market, 
proposed infrastructure, 
and amenity projects in 
each of the communities.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  2 

B. Implementation Framework 

The purpose of this evaluation and implementation framework is to help the Cities of 

Lexington, Heppner, and Ione identify and phase investments to address housing needs. This 

framework provides a structure for the cities, Morrow County, and partners as they implement 

the recommended actions.  

WHY: Collaborate to build capacity 

The three cities want to build new housing and maintain current housing stock to attract 
families to the area and ensure that current residents can stay in the area. However, limited 

housing options and amenities make it challenging to attract and retain residents. The cities can 

better act if they do so in concert. This collaborative implementation plan seeks to identify 

actions for the cities to:  

§ Upgrade their water/wastewater infrastructure to support new development. The three 

communities are in various stages of planning work with Anderson Perry & Associates 

(a civil engineering firm) to update their respective water system and/or wastewater 

system master plans.  

§ Pursue investments to overcome transportation and floodplain barriers. The 

communities face similar challenges obtaining necessary funding to support community 

investments. They also lack sufficient planning and grant writing capacity and expertise 

to pursue projects and associated funding. 

§ Attract developers or contractors for near-term development. These communities lack 

the labor and developer capacity necessary to finance and construct new housing.  

  

 
1 Davis, J. (2022, May 25). Regional partnership taking shape between John Day, Burns and Lakeview. The Blue Mountain 
Eagle. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www.bluemountaineagle.com/news/regional-partnership-taking-shape-
between-john-day-burns-and-lakeview/article_522d25d8-d893-11ec-a656-abfb8599301e.html 
 

The Case for Collaboration  
 
Regional Rural Revitalization Strategies is a developing partnership between the Cities of John Day, Burns, and 
Lakeview. The purpose of this partnership is to share staff and resources among the three municipalities to 
better cover costs related to housing needs and other public improvement projects. The partnership would 
essentially allow the small cities to “hunt as a pack” and pursue larger projects than they would otherwise be 
able to independently. The increased purchasing power and sharing of current assets results in accumulated 
cost savings.1  
 
The Willow Creek Valley should consider opportunities to collaborate when each city could benefit from 
combined action.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  3 

WHO: Heppner, Lexington, and Ione in partnership with Morrow County and other 
regional organizations 

Implementing the actions in this plan will have a higher likelihood of success if the  

Cities of Heppner, Lexington, and Ione coordinate with Morrow County, other local 

government entities, and community partners. While many actions in this plan will apply to all 

the cities, some will be more targeted. Morrow County can play a strong role in supporting 

cities in their individual efforts as well as coordinating communication and resources across the 

communities.  

Possible roles 

§ Heppner, Ione, and Lexington: Lead implementers and grant writers 

§ Morrow County: Provide technical assistance (e.g., mapping and analysis), support 

planning capacity, pursue grants (supported by potential Community Development 

Director role) 

§ Rural Engagement and Vitality Center: Potential convener with other jurisdictions and 

engagement with students on key projects  

§ Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group: Assuming funding is available, 

offer development, grant writing, and planning support, as well as provide grants for 

key projects  

§ Oregon Department of Transportation: Funder for transportation investments 

§ Business Oregon: Technical assistance and funding 

§ Federal agencies: the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) and other federal agencies 

will provide funding 

§ Other funding organizations could include Morrow County, Port of Morrow, Columbia 

River Enterprise Zone (CREZ) Board, ICABO, local employers, State of Oregon, the Ford 

Foundation, and other private foundations 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  4 

WHAT: Interventions to support housing 
development 

The biggest barriers to housing development in the three 

cities are lack of developer capacity and lack of capacity 

to advocate for and pursue additional funding for 

infrastructure and amenities. This plan identifies six 

interventions with implementing actions that provide the 

cities with a path forward to overcome these barriers. 

WHERE: The Willow Creek Valley 

The cities experience many overlapping barriers. Most 

interventions could be used in all three cities. However, 

when appropriate, it is noted where an action is most 

applicable. 

WHEN: 5-Year Planning Horizon - Do Now, Do If, Do 
When 

Due to limited funds and resources, the cities will need to prioritize and phase their actions. The 

“Do Now, Do If, Do When” framework detailed in Exhibit 1 can help the communities prioritize 

and phase city efforts and resources. This framework will allow the cities to quickly respond to 

external factors and initiatives such as new funding/grant announcements including 

Congressionally Directed Spending requests or new funds from the Oregon Legislature. 

Implementation steps for each proposed action are organized according to this framework.  

 

Exhibit 1. “Do Now, Do If, Do When” Framework for Prioritizing Efforts and Resources 

Do Now Do If Do When 

Actions to pursue immediately in 
2023 

These actions can be pursued 
immediately and are not 
contingent on other actions or 
external factors. These actions 
are foundational to pursuing 
additional actions and strategies. 

Actions that require additional 
consideration; not guaranteed 

The cities should only puruse 
these actions if certain conditions 
are met. External partners and/or 
funding sources will be required. 

Pursue later 

The cities should pursue when 
necessary foundational actions 
are complete and funding and 
other resources are available. 
These actions span the 5-year 
planning horizon taking place in 
the next 1 to 5 years. 

HOW: Funding Sources and Partnerships 

To address barriers to housing development, this plan provides action sheets for each 

intervention that the cities can take. These sheets detail implementation steps, potential 

partners, additional considerations, and potential funding sources.  

Interventions 

A. Fill infrastructure project funding 
gaps to build water and wastewater 
systems resiliency 

B. Seek funding for transportation 
infrastructure to support housing 
and other community priorities 

C. Address floodplain issues in Ione, 
Heppner, and Lexington 

D. Connect housing implementation to 
economic and workforce 
development  

E. Identify innovative ways to produce 
housing in rural areas 

F. Build planning and grant writing 
capacity 

 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  5 

Potential Funding Sources 

To implement the actions in this plan and ultimately support 

housing development, the cities will need to pursue a variety of 

funding sources.  

Some of the actions in this plan could be implemented using funds 

that have been dedicated to the cities, including CREZ, American 

Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), and Amazon allocations. Regional 

partners may also be willing to provide support, including 

WCVEDG, ICABO, or the Port of Morrow.  

Other potential funding sources the cities could explore include 

state and federal sources and grants from private organizations. 

Some potential funding sources are listed below. A more detailed 

matrix of grants that can support the planning and construction of 

water infrastructure is included in Appendix A. In addition to 

these sources, the cities should continue to monitor state agency 

and legislature creation of new funding opportunities aimed at 

improving infrastructure and building capacity for planning and 

housing. 

§ Regional Rural Revitalization ($30 Million).2 This program, advocated for by multiple 

legislators, will be used to revitalize rural communities through innovative workforce 

housing and infrastructure solutions. Funds will be reserved for rural areas with a 

preference for counties with historically low growth rates and underinvestment in 

housing infrastructure. 

§ Business Oregon. Business Oregon administers water/wastewater financing programs 

that fund the design and construction of public infrastructure needed to ensure 

compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act or the Clean Water Act. These programs 

have had an increase in the normal allocation and are discussed in Business Oregon’s 

One Stop Process. 

§ Oregon Water Resources Department (OWRD). The OWRD provides two types of 

funding for feasibility studies and implementation projects that meet in-stream and out-

of-stream water supply needs and produce economic, environmental, and social/cultural 

benefits.  

§ Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD). DLCD's General Fund 

grants are used primarily for Oregon communities' comprehensive planning and plan 

updates, but they also partner with Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to 

provide Transportation and Growth Management (TGM) grants. TGM grants help local 

communities plan for transportation and land use needs that increase transportation 

 
2 Email from Representative Smith G. July 22, 2022 “Urgent Response Requested: Industrial Lands Fund 
Capitalization” 

Finding Funding for Key 
Infrastructure through the 
One Stop Process 
 
All three cities will have One Stop 
meetings for their water and 
wastewater projects. The One 
Stop process brings together 
representatives from Business 
Oregon and other funding 
agencies to discuss project needs 
and identify the most promising 
funding package for the project 
and the city. While this can often 
be sufficient to meet city needs, 
sometimes gaps remain. 
 
This plan does not explore One 
Stop funding in detail. However, 
per the cities’ requests, it does 
identify some supplemental 
funding sources for supporting 
water infrastructure resiliency 
and planning in Appendix A.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  6 

choices for Oregon residents and visitors. DLCD has recognized the need for capacity 

for small cities to do planning and may have additional funding and programs in the 

future. 

§ Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The Water Infrastructure Finance and 

Innovation Act of 2014 (WIFIA) established the WIFIA program, a federal credit 

program administered by EPA for eligible water and wastewater infrastructure projects. 

§ USDA Rural Development. Focused on communities with populations of less than 

10,000, offers funding for infrastructure (water and wastewater opportunities discussed 

in Business Oregon’s One Stop process), placemaking, housing, and other community 

priorities.  

§ Bureau of Reclamation. Provides 50/50 cost share funding for projects that conserve and 

use water more efficiently and accomplish other benefits that contribute to water supply 

reliability in the western United States. 

§ Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). ODOT manages programs that 

provide funding and technical assistance for transportation planning and 

improvements, including the Small City Allotment Program focused on cities with 

populations of 5,000 or fewer, Safe Routes to School Programs, and the TGM Program 

(joint program of DLCD and ODOT). Ione, Heppner, and Lexington have each utilized 

ODOT funding to varying degrees, but there are still opportunities to continue 

leveraging this funding for transportation improvements.  

§ US Economic Development Administration (EDA). EDA has a variety of grants and 

loan programs to support economic development in communities, including funds to 

support critical infrastructure that will allow businesses to locate or expand operations. 

If infrastructure projects or housing initiatives can be tied to business expansion or job 

retention, the cities could be eligible for some types of EDA funding.  

§ Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Grant funds are available for pre- 

and post-emergency or disaster-related projects. These funds support critical recovery 

initiatives, hazard mitigation, innovative research, and many other programs. Cities 

need to maintain an updated Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP) to qualify for 

funding. Morrow County is coordinating a countywide NHMP update this fall. The 

cities and county should identify infrastructure projects necessary for resiliency as part 

of the NHMP update. 

§ Ford Foundation. Provides grants that help rural communities thrive, including their 

local economic base, social capital and community connections, community planning 

capacity, and public gathering spaces. They also provide technical assistance grants and 

capacity building opportunities. 

 
Where applicable, these potential sources and partners are noted in the Action Sheets. 

  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  7 

C. Action Sheets 

Attracting new housing to Willow Creek Valley will take a coordinated effort by the cities, 

Morrow County, regional partners, and funders. With targeted investments and partnerships, 

Willow Creek Valley could achieve its vision for more housing that supports the community. 

The strategic use of public funds can help to bridge funding gaps for infrastructure and new 

housing development. This chapter outlines six actions that can help the cities achieve their 

vision. Exhibit 2 provides an overview of the actions in the implementation plan.  

 
Exhibit 2. Overview of Actions 

 Action Rationale Cost to Cities* 
A.  Fill infrastructure project 

funding gaps to build 
water and wastewater 
systems resiliency 

Funding gaps may remain for all Willow 
Creek Valley infrastructure projects 

Very high, many millions 
of dollars 

B.  Seek funding for 
transportation 
infrastructure to support 
housing and other 
community priorities 

Help to improve quality of life in the 
communities and can help to attract new 
residents. 

Little direct cost to cities, 
but significant grant 
funding needed 

C.  Address floodplain issues 
in Ione, Heppner, and 
Lexington 

Updating the floodplain map could reduce 
barriers to development and increase 
certainty for property owners. 

Around $250,000 in 
grant funding needed to 
support planning for map 
amendments 

D.  Connect housing 
implementation to 
economic and workforce 
development 

Link tourism, economic development, and 
placemaking opportunities to enhance 
funding opportunities. Focus on the 
construction trades to alleviate labor 
shortages and add development capacity 
to the region (longer term).  

TBD 

E.  Identify innovative ways to 
produce housing in rural 
areas 

The cities may benefit from exploring how 
other rural cities have attracted 
developers through different types of 
incentives, innovative development 
models, or coordinated regional efforts 

Depends on the approach 
used. The cities could 
pursue incentives that 
help to decrease the 
funding gap 

F.  Build planning and grant 
writing capacity 

The cities need additional planning 
capacity and expertise to pursue 
projects as well as funding to plan for 
and implement them.  

TBD  
By collaborating, the 
cities can reduce costs 

*Many of the costs for these actions have not been clearly identified, and the cities will need to explore costs as a part of 
their implementation process. 

  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  8 

A. Fill infrastructure project funding gaps to build water and wastewater 
systems resiliency 

 
Description:  Water and wastewater infrastructure is expensive, and Willow Creek Valley 

communities especially struggle to cover the capital costs associated with 
developing new infrastructure given their limited tax and fee revenues. While all 
three cities have gone or will go through the One Stop process, the cities are also 
interested in identifying supplemental funding tools to support water system and 
wastewater system resiliency. There may be opportunities to improve regional 
coordination and pursue additional sources of funding to fill these gaps.  
 

Rationale: With Anderson Perry’s support, the Cities of Ione, Heppner, and Lexington are well 
equipped to address their water and wastewater deficiencies and identify funding 
packages to support these projects. However, funding gaps may remain. Ione 
expects to have a capital funding gap of up to $2 million for its wastewater 
infrastructure improvements. While Heppner and Lexington have not yet completed 
their water and/or wastewater infrastructure planning processes (which will include 
One Stop meetings), both cities are interested in identifying additional funding 
sources since they may also have funding gaps.  
 

Funding 
Considerations:  

Given recent investments, there is more money available through the One Stop 
process to support these types of projects than in years past. However, potential 
supplemental sources to build water resiliency are listed below. A more detailed 
description of some of these programs is included in Appendix A: Grants/Loans for 
Water Infrastructure. 
 
§ Regional Rural Revitalization ($30 Million) 
§ Oregon Water Resources Department Feasibility Study and Water Project Grants 
§ EPA Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act program 
§ USDA Rural Development Water and Environmental Programs 
§ Bureau of Reclamation Water and Energy Efficiency grants and Small-Scale Water 

Efficiency grants 
§ FEMA Hazard Mitigation funding (Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan must be up to 

date to qualify) 
 

Partners:  Morrow County, CREZ, Port of Morrow 
 

Implementation 
Steps:  

Do now 
§ Coordinate with Morrow County to determine how the cities can best 

communicate funding gaps to the County, Port, and CREZ Board to solicit support 
for priority projects from regional partners.  

§ Participate in the Morrow County Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP) 
beginning fall 2022. Each city is due to be updated. This is an opportunity to 
identify projects that may qualify for mitigation funding. 

§ Review available funding sources listed under funding considerations to 
understand which sources may be most applicable if a gap exists. For more 
details on grants for water infrastructure and resiliency see Appendix A. 

§ Ione: Work with Anderson Perry & Associates and Business Oregon to plan for a 
new well. 

 
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  9 

Do If 
§ Consider convening the CREZ board to discuss the funding barriers and needs 

identified in the implementation plan process.  
 
Do When 
§ Seek funding for projects identified in the NHMP process to ensure continued 

access to federal emergency resources 
§ When the master planning processes for water and wastewater infrastructure are 

complete, pursue gap funding considering the programs identified in this plan; tie 
funding sources to NHMP if applicable; coordinate with regional partners. 

 
 
  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  10 

B. Seek funding for transportation infrastructure to support housing and other 
community priorities 

 
Description:  Heppner, Ione, and Lexington have limited local funds to support transportation 

infrastructure improvements, public transit, and other community priorities. The 
cities also have amenity projects that they are interested in pursuing that will 
require additional funding sources. Projects include: 
 
§ Lexington: historic preservation for buildings and property improvements in 

downtown; downtown/main street design; parks 

§ Ione: main street revitalization; bike/ped infrastructure (the City is interested 
in adding a bike path from the high school to potential new sports field off N 
H St.); street crossing improvements (e.g., improving safety for pedestrians 
coming off the pathway near Ella Road); road paving  

§ Heppner: infrastructure for new subdivisions; street crossing improvements  

Rationale: Investments in amenities and transportation can help to improve quality of life 
in the communities and can help to attract new residents. ODOT’s Transit and 
Housing Study3 completed in September 2022 highlights how transportation 
and housing are interrelated and affect a household’s quality of life, physical 
environment, health outcomes, economic mobility, educational and cultural 
opportunities, and many other factors. Pedestrian/bike/transit infrastructure is 
especially important to consider when developing new housing, where residents 
may have limited access to vehicles (e.g., single-care households, students).  
 

Funding 
Considerations:  

ODOT programs will fund transportation improvements that are in the 
floodplain, but this can add to project costs (e.g., additional stormwater 
management needs, etc.). ODOT needs to know of local floodplain 
considerations when the cities apply for funding to accurately allocate sufficient 
funding.  
 
Available ODOT funding could include: 
§ The Small City Allotment Grant: includes up to $250,000 for street 

improvements. All three cities have pursued this grant for the 2023 
allocation. 

§ Safe Routes to School Program: Heppner recently conducted an Identification 
Plan (PIP) to identify street crossing issues and applied for Safe Routes to 
School funding based on those PIP priorities. 

§ Transportation and Growth Management: Lexington applied for $175,000 to 
fund a Downtown Improvement Plan but did not receive the grant this cycle. 
The grant application has been recommended to the Quick Response 
Program instead.  

§ Funding related to implementation actions identified through the Transit and 
Housing Study. The cities and County should remain vigilant for new ODOT 
funding opportunities that could become available in response to this Study.  
Available grants to support rural public transportation includes 5311 Formula 
Grants for Rural Areas. This could relate to connecting people in Willow Creek 
Valley with transit options to reach jobs further away. Identifying specific 

 
3 Oregon Transit and Housing Study. ECONorthwest. September 2022. 
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/ODOT_Transit_%26_Housing_Study_Final_Report.pdf 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  11 

opportunities in the Valley could help the County to identify state and other 
funding.  
Morrow County Public Transit is already a recipient of 5311 Formula Grants. 
The county, in coordination with other local partners, has developed several 
reports and studies that identify transit needs across the county. These 
reports could be used as a base for distributing funding or a starting point for 
additional studies, if needed. 

§ ODOT occasionally receives regional allocations 
Other funding sources could include: 
§ Regional Rural Revitalization ($30 million) 
§ Congressional direct spending  
§ Oregon Heritage grants for historic preservation of buildings (Lexington) 
§ Ford Foundation grants for community development 
§ USDA Rural Development grants for placemaking 
§ EDA grants if improvements are tied to economic development (e.g., to 

support bike tourism in Heppner) 
§ Cycle Oregon grants for promoting bike pathways 
 

Partners:  ODOT, Morrow County 
 

Implementation 
Steps:  

Do Now 
§ Work with the County to communicate transportation improvement needs to 

ODOT. ODOT occasionally receives regional allocations, and communicating 
transportation needs preemptively could help ensure the cities receive 
funding when it is available.  

§ Review ODOT’s Transit and Housing Study Toolkit to understand how the 
cities and County can employ different tools and actions to encourage and 
promote diverse transit-supportive housing options. Consider how these 
efforts can align with County Transit efforts to add transit service and to 
create a rideshare program to create new commute options for workers 
throughout the County 

§ Pursue targeted grant funding suggested in the funding considerations 
(ODOT, EDA, USDA, private foundations); consider leveraging grant writing 
and collaboration options outlined in Action F to enhance capacity to pursue 
grants.  

§ Ione: Work with the County and ODOT to advance key safety projects. For 
instance, improving safety for pedestrians coming off the pathway near Ella 
Road has been a priority for the City, but the speed study conducted by ODOT 
is still pending review.  

Do If 
In 2022, Lexington applied for a TGM grant to fund a Downtown Improvement 
Plan but did not receive the grant. Instead, the grant application has been 
recommended for the Quick Response Program.  
§ Lexington: If the Quick Response Program grant is awarded, release request 

for proposal to solicit consultant support for the Downtown Improvement 
Plan. 

§ Lexington: If the Quick Response Program grant is not awarded, work with 
ODOT and DLCD to better understand the grant requirements and submit a 
new application in the future.  

 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  12 

C. Address floodplain issues in Heppner, Ione, and Lexington 
 

Description  Portions of all three cities are in the regulated floodplain, but the cities have taken 
steps to alleviate the hazard. The floodplain designation hinders new development 
and remodeling/restoration of existing buildings (if value is greater than 50%). The 
cities wish to re-evaluate the floodplain designation by pursuing a flood map 
amendment with FEMA. The existing floodplain maps can serve as a basis for 
starting the process. A licensed engineer would need to be involved. In addition, the 
cities’ involvement in the Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan update will identify 
projects eligible for hazard mitigation grant dollars (e.g., Building Resilient 
Infrastructure and Communities [BRIC] grants). 
 

Rationale Updating the floodplain map could reduce barriers to development and increase 
certainty for property owners. Coordination on addressing floodplain issues in the 
Valley is an example of how the cities can join forces to tackle a challenge.  
Having an updated Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan opens up funding for existing 
infrastructure improvements. 
 

Funding 
Considerations  

Up to $250,000 total for planning assistance to remap each of their floodplains. The 
County may have ARPA funding available that could be used to support floodplain 
mapping across the cities. 
 

Location Ione (primarily) with some opportunity in Heppner and Lexington  
See floodplain maps in Appendix B 

Partners  Morrow County Emergency Management and Planning, Department of Land 
Conservation and Development State Floodplain Coordinator, Federal Emergency 
Management Agency 

Implementation 
Steps:  

Do Now:  
§ Request assistance from the County’s planning department to compile needed 

materials and funding assistance for planning work (estimated at $250,000 for 
all three cities per Kim Cutsforth and WCVEDG); this should include all work to 
date and could encompass historical perspectives where available.  

§ Request County ARPA dollars to support floodplain mapping  
§ Schedule an initial meeting with the new state floodplain manager (consider a 

joint meeting with all WCV cities) 
§ Ione and Heppner: Request an amendment or revision to a flood map to change 

the city’s floodplain designation.4 Solicit cost estimate for engineering. Work with 
the County to file a letter of map revision/amendment.  

§ Determine steps for Lexington and Heppner  
§ Request County assistance with process to engage State Floodplain Coordinator 

and FEMA 
§ Consider how the cities can share investment in LIDAR mapping of the floodplain 
§ Secure funding for engineering 
Do If: If the County hires a community development director, the County may be able 
to provide more robust technical assistance.  
 
 
 

 

 
4 https://www.fema.gov/flood-maps/change-your-flood-zone 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  13 

D. Connect housing implementation to economic and workforce development 
 

Description:  The cities could tie economic and workforce development to housing 
implementation in the Valley. The Port of Morrow’s mission is to create jobs, but the 
County struggles to attract the necessary workers since there are limited places to 
live. Supporting housing implementation such as through infrastructure investment 
in the Valley is one way to ensure that the workforce has places to live. The Port may 
also have a role in promoting the construction trades to increase long-term 
developer capacity. 
 

Rationale: Tying tourism and placemaking opportunities with housing development can 
enhance opportunities for alternative funding sources. Additionally, workforce 
development programs could focus on the construction trades to alleviate labor 
shortages and add development capacity to the region (longer term).  
 

Considerations:  While targeting workforce development programs toward the construction trades 
could help improve development capacity, it is unlikely to make a large difference in 
the short term. Additionally, it may help with some capacity constraints in Willow 
Creek Valley, but graduates may locate to other areas. It may be beneficial to 
implement an internship program to utilize student capacity in the region or a 
workshop program where students build housing in the region.  
 

Partners:  Port of Morrow (Port has worked with Boardman and Irrigon on housing),  
County Tourism Coordinator, Morrow County School District and Ione School District 
(Student Housing Program), Morrow County Transit, Morrow County Community 
Development  
 

Implementation 
Steps:  

Do Now:  
§ Work with the Port of Morrow to understand what role it might play in 

infrastructure development and how it can support workforce development in the 
trades to alleviate labor shortages in the construction trades. 

§ Work with the County Tourism Coordinator to align efforts 
§ Attend the Placemaking in Small and Rural Communities Online Conference, 

where the cities can learn about placemaking and future funding sources. 
Training is virtual and coordinated by USDA Rural Development, which might have 
relevance for the City of Ione since the One Stop meeting identified USDA Rural 
Development as the best direction for infrastructure funding. 

§ Explore grants, like the USDA Placemaking Grant, to increase amenities. 
§ Consider how these efforts can align with County Transit efforts to add transit 

service and to create a rideshare program to create new commute options for 
workers throughout the County 
 

Example The Columbia Basin Student Homebuilder Program is a homebuilding program for 
high school students in Hermiston, Oregon. Sponsored by the Northeast Oregon 
Homebuilders Association in partnership with the City of Hermiston and the 
Hermiston School District, this program is designed to equip students with in-
demand skills, addressing long-term workforce skills gaps in the trades while 
simultaneously meeting the need for additional housing in the area. Students across 
five programs of study are involved in all facets of the process, design, construction, 
oversight, and marketing of one high-quality, energy-efficient residential home per 
year. This program started with a $400,000 grant to build the first home and is now 
self-sustaining as the sale of the home funds the next year’s build.  
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  14 

E. Identify innovative ways to produce housing in rural areas 
 

Description:  Water and wastewater infrastructure improvements alone will not guarantee 
additional housing development. All three cities face barriers when it comes to 
attracting development. Market-rate developers have little incentive to invest in the 
area due to limited opportunities for profitability. Not-for-profit organizations face 
staffing barriers to being able to manage development projects. Some contractors 
that have previously worked in the cities are backed up for multiple years. Financing 
also remains a barrier for both market-rate and not-for-profit developers.  
 

Rationale: The cities may benefit from exploring how other rural cities have attracted 
developers through different types of incentives, innovative development models, or 
coordinated regional efforts. 
 

Funding 
Considerations:  

A Housing Incentive District (TIF funding approach) and other ways to locally raise 
funds could help fill the gap to make a project profitable. (WCVEDG conducted a 
market study in 2019 that showed the gap for profitability to develop a unit was 
about $25,000.) However, incentives alone may not be enough to attract an outside 
developer.  
 
WCVEDG may be interested in developing more housing but needs funding to 
support a staff person to manage the development. The County or other partners 
could help WCVEDG seek ongoing funding for staff support. If WCVEDG were the 
developer, they may be able to take advantage of local incentives to ensure their 
projects are profitable.  
 

Partners:  WCVEDG, ICABO, Morrow County, Greater Eastern Oregon Development Corporation 
(GEODC), Housing Land Advocates, banks (e.g., Bank of Eastern Oregon) 
 

Implementation 
Steps:  

Do Now:  
§ Talk to developers who have been developing housing at a larger scale in 

Eastern Oregon (e.g., GCT Land Management, which developed the Veteran’s 
Village in La Grande, Oregon, but is also working on market-rate housing) 

§ Talk to prefabricated and modular builders (Homes Direct has a prefabricated 
home viewing location in Albany, Oregon; Eastern Oregon Home Center is a KIT 
Custom Homebuilder–authorized retailer in La Grande, Oregon). This will allow the 
cities to explore how alternative housing types (modular and prefab housing) 
might alleviate limited developer and contractor capacity and reduce time and 
costs to build housing in Willow Creek Valley. 

§ Explore implementation of a Housing Incentive District, which offers Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) to provide incentives for building within designated city 
areas that have deteriorated structures, underdevelopment, or lack of 
development.  

§ Explore funding to support WCVEDG in developing additional housing in Willow 
Creek Valley. WCVEDG has previously funded projects across the region and has 
interest in developing additional properties, but they need funding support to hire 
additional staff for managing housing development projects and filling profitability 
gaps.5 Oregon Housing and Community Services or USDA’s rural housing 
development programs could be a partner in helping on key projects.  

 
5 Interview with Kim Cutsforth, Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group, May 5th, 2022, and Open House, 
September 19, 2022. 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  15 

§ Utility funding. Work with County or WCVEDG to provide partnerships and 
assistance developing a utility fund. The fund could be capitalized with $500,000 
in grant funds from CREZ, the cities, or another source for utility extensions and 
combined with the WCVEDG utility extension grant ($10,000 per unit cap) 

§ Explore the creation of a revolving low-interest loan fund, in partnership with a 
local bank. The cities could pool funding, in partnership with a bank and GEODC, 
and make it available on a revolving basis for eligible projects. This fund could be 
tied to affordability requirements.  

 
Example Housing Incentive Districts: The cities of John Day and Madras both established 

Urban Renewal Districts in their respective rural communities to help with 
compounding shortfalls of housing production. These Urban Renewal Districts use 
Tax Increment Financing (TIF) to provide incentives for building within designated 
city areas that have “deteriorated structures, under-development or lack of 
development.”  
 
The City of John Day established their Urban Renewal District in 2018 covering 
about 130 acres of land, and the City of Madras established their Madras Housing 
Urban Renewal District (HURD) Plan in 2019 covering about 700 acres of land. Both 
cities offer incentives within their Urban Renewal Districts, including: 
§ Cash rebates on a portion of property taxes paid 
§ Direct contribution of funds 
§ Contributions to the developer for infrastructure development 
§ An agreement for the Urban Renewal Agency to complete infrastructure 

improvements that are required as a condition of development approval  
 
Madras’s Urban Renewal District supports production of housing units across 
income levels. The 2020-2021 HURD report shows 19 new units completed and 
366 additional units agreed upon and under contract.  
 
Prefabricated Housing: Prefabricated and modular housing provide modern cost-
saving methods to produce market-rate housing at a more affordable rate. These 
homes are built in a factory to about 80-90% of completion (typically 4-8 weeks) and 
are then trucked to the building site in “modular” pieces for quick on-site assembly. 
The building is subject to on-site inspection and approval after assembly to ensure 
local, state, and regional building codes are met (foundation approval can begin 
before assembling the building on the site). Construction labor shortages and large-
scale unmet demand of housing in the Pacific Northwest make modular and 
prefabricated construction particularly intriguing. 
 
Some of the benefits of modular and prefabricated housing include:6,7,8 
§ Reduced costs. Prefabricated housing is typically 10-35% less expensive than on-

site stick-built homes. Prefabricated housing generally produces less building 
material waste, has lower material transportation costs, and lower labor costs.  
 

 
6 Manufactured or Modular Home - What's the Difference? Next Modular. (2021, May 10). Retrieved August 31, 2022, from 
https://www.nextmodular.com/modular-manufactured-prefabricated-home/  
7 Warwick, S. (2021, September 25). What are modular homes and what do they cost? we have the lowdown. Real Homes. 
Retrieved August 31, 2022, from https://www.realhomes.com/advice/what-are-modular-homes  
8 Bertram, N., Fuchs, S., Mischke, J., Palter, R., Strube, G., &amp; Woetzel, J. (2019). (rep.). “Modular Construction: From 
projects to products.” McKinsey & Company. Retrieved September 1, 2022, from https://www.ivvd.nl/wp-
content/uploads/2019/12/Modular-construction-from-projects-to-products-full-report-NEW.pdf.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  16 

§ Faster construction and quicker move in. Prefabricated homes can typically be 
built 20-50% quicker than on-site stick-built homes, requiring fewer 
manufacturers, suppliers, and subcontractors. They are less impacted by weather 
with on-site assembly ranging from 1 day to 3 months. 

§ Personal and customizable homes that can be easily expanded in the future. 

 
  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  17 

F. Build planning and grant writing capacity 
 

Description:  Planning for and funding desired projects remains a continuous challenge for 
the cities. Many staff are at capacity with their current workloads and have little 
or no time to pursue additional funding. There may be an opportunity to boost 
planning or grant writing capacity by collaborating with the County or WCVEDG 
to share capacity.  
 

Rationale: The cities identified the need for infrastructure and amenity projects beyond 
water and wastewater. The cities need additional planning capacity and 
expertise to pursue these projects as well as funding to plan for and implement 
them.  
 

Funding 
Considerations:  

The cities could consider pooling resources (together and with the county) to 
fund shared planning and grant writing staff or services. The cities could also 
solicit support from CREZ, Business Oregon, or WCVEDG. 
 

Partners:  Morrow County, WCVEDG, Port of Morrow, GEODC, Rural Engagement and 
Vitality Center 
 

Implementation 
Steps: 

Do Now:  
§ Explore collaborative municipality models by talking with other cities that 

have implemented collaboration agreements to gather information on their 
experiences and how the cities may want to structure an agreement (e.g., 
Regional Rural Revitalization Strategies is a developing partnership between 
the Cities of John Day, Burns, and Lakeview) 

§ Work with the County to identify which projects the cities would like to 
pursue that require the expertise of a planner and/or a grant writer.  

§ Consider needs across the cities. How would a shared planner and/or grant 
writer split their time? Is there enough work for full-time employees between 
the cities and County? What are the cost differences between full-time 
employees and contract services? How can the County and WCVEDG best 
support the cities? 

§ Monitor state activity that might create opportunities for direct funding and 
capacity building. Examples include legislation, Congressionally directed 
spending requests, DLCD Housing Needs and Analysis report 
recommendations, and DLCD or other state funding to create a regional 
program to help build capacity for small cities. Eastern Oregon University’s 
REV Program or GEODC are entities that could expand in the future to 
include planning support for small cities. 

 
Do When  
After needs are identified, the cities and County should work together to 
determine preferred way of building planning and grant writing capacity. 
Options could include:  
§ Hiring shared full-time employees. A shared grant writer and/or a shared 

planner could be housed at the County with time split across the cities 
according to need or pre-established agreements. Costs could be split 
across the communities.  

§ Sharing contracted services. The County has two grant writers of record as of 
summer 2022. The County could provide limited services in kind. 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy – October 2022  18 

§ Building County capacity. The County may consider hiring a Community 
Development Director to deploy support to cities as needed.  

§ Building WCVEDG capacity. WCVEDG will be contracting with Heppner 
Community Foundation, which supports special districts and local 
government with administration and managing grants. If funding were 
available to support a full-time staff position, WCVEDG would be interested in 
providing grant writing and/or planning services to cities that demonstrated 
need. 

§ Build internal grant writing expertise. The Ford Family Foundation’s 
Pathways to Securing Rural Federal Funding Toolkit includes need-based 
mentoring to build grant writing expertise as well as (coming soon) a grant 
writer roster to assist agencies in developing and managing federal grant 
proposals.  

 
Examples The Regional Rural Revitalization Strategies is a developing partnership 

between the Cities of John Day, Burns, and Lakeview. The purpose of this 
partnership is to share staff and resources among the three municipalities to 
better cover costs related to housing needs and other public improvement 
projects.  
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy October 2022    A-1 

Appendix A. Grants/Loans for Water Infrastructure  
This appendix includes a limited number of potential grant opportunities that the cities could pursue to support water infrastructure. The 
cities should continue to monitor state agency and legislature creation of new funding opportunities for water infrastructure as well as 
funding opportunities aimed at building capacity for planning and for housing.  
 

ID Funding Program Program Description Eligible Projects Eligible Applicants Grant Program 
Criteria Evaluated 

Funding Capacity 

1 OWRD Water 
Projects Grants 
and Loans 
 
Funding Agency: 
Oregon Water 
Resources 
Department 

Funding for projects that will help 
Oregon meet its in-stream and out-
of-stream water supply needs and 
produce economic, environmental, 
and social/cultural benefits. This 
competitive funding opportunity is 
meant for implementation-ready 
projects. Grants and loans are 
offered on an annual basis, with the 
applications due each spring.  
  

Funds implementation-
ready projects in 
conservation, reuse, above-
ground storage, below-
ground storage, streamflow 
protection or restoration, 
water distribution, 
conveyance or delivery 
systems, and other water 
resource development 
projects that result in 
economic, environmental, 
and public benefits.  

Any local or tribal 
government or 
person may apply 
for funding.  

Criteria document 
available on their 
webpage. Looking for 
highest likelihood of 
achieving greatest 
public benefits under 
three categories: 
economic, 
environmental, and 
social. Each category 
must achieve 
minimum rating of 7.   

Past funding has ranged 
from $150,000 to $3 
million. Funding is 
provided through the sale 
of lottery revenue bonds. 
An additional $15 million 
in lottery revenue bonds, 
scheduled to be sold in 
March 2023, will provide 
funding for future cycles.  
 
Grant requires a 25% 
cost match 

2 OWRD 
Feasibility Study 
Grants 
 
Funding Agency: 
Oregon Water 
Resources 
Department 

Feasibility Study Grants fund 
qualifying costs of studies to 
evaluate the feasibility of 
developing water conservation, 
reuse, and storage projects. This 
competitive funding opportunity 
helps individuals and communities 
investigate whether a project is 
worth pursuing. Grants are offered 
on an annual basis, with 
applications due each fall. 

Funds studies to evaluate 
the feasibility of developing 
water conservation, reuse, 
and storage projects 
 
 

Any local or tribal 
government or 
person may apply 
for funding. 
 
*Grant 
applications would 
likely require 
engineering 
expertise and 
assistance with 
grant writing 

Technical 
preparedness, study 
goal, water 
availability and 
strategies, 
community 
engagement. 

Grants require a 50% 
cost match of the total 
cost of the feasibility 
study, up to $500,000.  
 

3 Sustainable 
Infrastructure 
Planning 
Projects (SIPP) 
 
Funding Agency: 
Oregon Health 
Authority  
 

SIPP provides a 100% forgivable 
loan for planning infrastructure 
projects for water utilities to make 
them more sustainable and 
resilient. Grant cannot be used for 
any construction or engineering, 
only planning. 
 
 

Feasibility Studies, Asset 
Management Plan, System 
Partnership Studies, Water 
Rate Analysis, Leak 
Detection Studies, Security 
Risk and Vulnerabilities 
Studies, Water System 
Master Plan for water 
systems with <300 
connections, Seismic Risk 
Assessment and Mitigation  

A water system 
may be awarded 
SIPP funds once 
every three years 
 

System size (small 
systems prioritized), 
capital improvement 
history, future project 
potential, readiness 
to proceed, priority 
deliverable 

Up to $20,000 per 
project, 100% forgivable 
loan 
 
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy October 2022    A-2 

ID Funding Program Program Description Eligible Projects Eligible Applicants Grant Program 
Criteria Evaluated 

Funding Capacity 

4 Water 
infrastructure 
Finance and 
Innovation Act 
Program 
 
Funding Agency: 
Environmental 
Protection 
Agency 

The Water Infrastructure Finance 
and Innovation Act of 2014 (WIFIA) 
established the WIFIA program, a 
federal credit program administered 
by EPA for eligible water and 
wastewater infrastructure projects.  
 
 

Projects that are eligible for 
Clean Water and Drinking 
Water State Revolving 
Funds (SRFs), drought 
mitigation, alternative water 
supply, energy efficiency 
projects. Funds can be 
used for development, 
construction, acquisition 
costs. 

Local, state, tribal, 
and federal 
government 
entities, 
partnerships and 
joint ventures, 
corporations and 
trusts and Clean 
Water and Drinking 
Water State 
Revolving Fund 
(SRF) programs 
 

The program 
determines whether 
the project satisfies 
each category of 
criteria (Project 
Impact, Project 
Readiness, and 
Borrower 
Creditworthiness).  
 
 

$5 million minimum size 
for small communities 
(<25,000), 49% costs 
eligible for WIFIA funding, 
Federal funding cannot 
exceed 80% of project 
costs, 35-year maximum 
maturity for completion, 
5 addition years after 
completion for 
repayment.  
 
In some cases, loans 
from the SDWRLF can be 
used as required match 
funding for WIFIA 
funding. 

5 USDA Rural 
Development 
Water and 
Environmental 
Programs: 
Emergency 
Community 
Water 
Assistance 
Grants 
 
Funding Agency: 
USDA Rural 
Development  

This program helps eligible 
communities with a population of 
10,000 or less prepare, or recover 
from, an emergency that threatens 
the availability of safe, reliable 
drinking water. Emergency events 
including drought or flood, 
earthquake, tornado or hurricane, 
disease outbreak, chemical spill or 
leak, other disasters (federal 
disaster declaration is not required).  
  

Funds can be used 1) to 
construct waterline 
extensions, repair breaks or 
leaks in existing water 
distribution lines, and 
address related 
maintenance necessary to 
replenish the water supply, 
and 2) to construct a water 
source, intake, or treatment 
facility. 

The area to be served must 
have a median household 
income less than the 
state's median household 
income for nonmetropolitan 
areas.  

 

Most state and 
local governmental 
entities, nonprofits, 
federally 
recognized tribes 
  

Unclear from website. 
Website suggests 
speaking to a 
program specialist 
before attempting to 
fill out any forms or 
applications 
  

Water transmission line 
grants up to $150,000 
 
Water source grants up 
to $1,000,000  
 
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy October 2022    A-3 

ID Funding Program Program Description Eligible Projects Eligible Applicants Grant Program 
Criteria Evaluated 

Funding Capacity 

6 WaterSMART: 
Water and 
Energy Efficiency 
Grants 
 
Funding Agency: 
Bureau of 
Reclamation 

On-the-ground water management 
improvement projects, including 
projects that conserve water and 
address water supply reliability. 
 
 

Projects should result in 
quantifiable water savings, 
implement renewable 
energy components, and 
support broader 
sustainability benefits. 

State, regional, or 
local authorities, 
whose members 
include one or 
more organizations 
with water or power 
delivery authority. 

Quantifiable water 
savings, renewable 
energy, sustainability 
benefits, etc. 

Up to $500,000 for 
projects to be completed 
within two years; up to 
$2 million for projects to 
be completed within 
three years; and up to $5 
million for large projects 
to be completed within 
three years.  
 
Non-Federal Cost Share: 
50% or greater. 
 

7 WaterSMART: 
Small-Scale 
Water Efficiency 
projects 
 
Funding Agency: 
Bureau of 
Reclamation 

The WaterSMART Small-Scale Water 
Efficiency Projects Reclamation 
provides 50/50 cost share funding 
to irrigation and water districts, 
tribes, states and other entities with 
water or power delivery authority for 
small water efficiency 
improvements that have been 
identified through previous planning 
efforts. Projects eligible for funding 
include installation of flow 
measurement or automation in a 
specific part of a water delivery 
system, lining of a section of a canal 
to address seepage, or other similar 
projects that are limited in scope. 
 

Canal lining/piping, 
municipal metering, 
Irrigation flow 
measurement, supervisory 
control and data acquisition 
and automation (SCADA), 
landscape Irrigation 
measures, high-efficiency 
indoor appliances and 
fixtures, upgrades to 
commercial cooling 
systems to improve water-
use efficiency  
 
Other projects that are like 
those tasks listed above 
may be submitted for 
consideration and will be 
allowed to the extent that 
they are consistent with 
program authorization and 
goals. 

State, regional, or 
local authorities, 
whose members 
include one or 
more organizations 
with water or power 
delivery authority. 

Project benefits, 
planning efforts 
supporting the 
project, project 
implementation, 
nexus to reclamation, 
Presidential and 
Department of the 
Interior priorities 

In 2022, applicants were 
eligible for up to 
$100,000 for 2-year 
projects, with maximum 
total project costs of 
$225,000.  
 
50% non-Federal cost 
share 
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  B-1 

Appendix B. Flood Plain Maps  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  B-2 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  B-3 

 
 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-1 

Appendix C. Background Report  
 
 
 

Morrow County Housing 
Implementation Strategy 

Background Report 
 

August 2022 

Prepared for: Morrow County and the Cities of Heppner, Ione, and Lexington 

Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-2 

Introduction and Purpose 

The three small Cities of Ione, Lexington, and Heppner have worked 

collaboratively over the past 20 years to increase housing production in 

the Willow Creek Valley. Many of the new housing units have been the 

result of a public-private partnership between the Willow Creek Valley 

Economic Development Group (WCVEDG) and the Ione Community 

Agri-Business Organization (ICABO). While that formula has produced 

some new housing, the lack of infrastructure along with a lack of 

developer capacity in the area has caused housing development to stall.  

 

The purpose of this Background Report is to summarize information on 

the housing market, proposed infrastructure, and amenity projects in 

each of the communities, and to identify a set of possible interventions, 

including policy changes and funding tools, that can help to move these 

projects forward. This will include interviews with stakeholder groups 

including community and advocacy organizations and housing 

developers. 

 

The next step will be to write an Implementation Strategy that will help the cities address the 

needs and gaps identified in this report.   

This Background Report has the following sections:  

§ Housing Market Context for Ione. This section outlines factors in the housing market 

that drive the need for a well-honed strategy.  

§ Housing Market Context for Heppner. This section outlines factors in the housing 

market that drive the need for a well-honed strategy.  

§ Housing Market Context for Lexington. This section outlines factors in the housing 

market that drive the need for a well-honed strategy.  

§ Implications and Next Steps. This section outlines barriers that the cities face and 

implications that will guide the Implementation Strategy moving forward. 

  

The overall goal of the 
project is to prepare a 
Housing Implementation 
Strategy focused on two 
of the strategies 
identified in the 2019 
Morrow Housing Strategies 
Report:  
 
Land Supply Strategy 1: 
Evaluate and Address 
Infrastructure Issues in 
the cities of Ione, 
Lexington, and Heppner. 
  
Code Strategy 2: Enhance 
Local Amenities and 
Services. Garner local 
input on city amenities 
that residents desire to 
enhance livability in each 
town. 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-3 

Housing Market Context - Ione 

Housing Market Summary9 

The City of Ione had a total population of 337 as of 2020.10 Relative to Morrow County and 

Oregon, the City of Ione has a larger portion of older residents and a lower median family 

income. Just over 20% of residents in Ione were over 65 years old as of 2017, which is a higher 

share than either Morrow County or Oregon. From 2010 to 2018, median household income in 

Ione shrank from $56,250 to $51,786—a decrease of 8%.  

 

The majority of residents in Ione own their homes. The Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) found 

that among homeowners, there was an estimated surplus of 17 houses. In contrast, the HNA 

found a shortage of 8 units among renters, with 31 units supplied compared to an estimated 39 

units needed. However, conversations with the City suggest that there is a shortage of homes 

available for both ownership and renting.  

 

From 2000 to 2018, the population of Ione grew at a modest rate of 2% from 329 people to 338.  

Between now and 2039, the population of Ione is expected to grow slightly, by 0.11%. By 2039, 

housing demand in Ione is expected to reach a total of 155 units, with the majority of new 

housing being single-family detached housing. 

Past Efforts and Barriers 

The City of Ione residents and businesses use individual, privately owned septic tanks and 

drainfields to treat and dispose of wastewater on each developed lot in the city. According to 

the City’s one stop application, “The original Ione town site was platted with small, narrow lots that, 
in most cases, do not provide sufficient area for conventional wastewater drain field placement or the 
required additional area for future drain field replacement. This has become a hindrance to growth and 
development of vacant properties.” 

 

The City has been working since the mid-2010s to develop an investment plan for a potential 

wastewater system. The recently submitted Wastewater Feasibility Study Amendment (under 

Oregon Department of Environmental Quality review) has a viable alternative the City is eager 

to pursue. 

 

The City of Ione faces a shortage of housing and space for recreational vehicles. This new 

wastewater system would dramatically help this community that is currently solely on septic 

tanks.  

 
9 Data are summarized from the 2019 Morrow County Housing Strategies Report unless otherwise noted.  
10 Population estimates from the Population Resource Center at Portland State University 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-4 

Proposed Infrastructure and Amenity Projects – Cost and 
Potential Funding Sources 

Key projects identified by the community include a community wastewater system and road 

paving projects on key corridors. Ione’s water system is in good shape and does not need 

improvements.  

Community Wastewater System 

The proposed project includes a new community wastewater collection, treatment, and disposal 

system. If the proposed project is constructed, the City will no longer need to rely on existing 

individual drainfields to collect and dispose of the City's wastewater. 

In August 2021, Anderson Perry (a civil engineering firm) completed a feasibility study for the 

wastewater system that evaluated two alternatives: a drain field (up Johnson Grade) and 

evaporative lagoons. The recommended community wastewater system project is a gray water 

from individual septic tanks flowing up Johnson Grade to a drainfield. The project would 

provide 176 connections (not including Emert Addition) for residents (single-family and RV 

park residents), businesses, city properties, and the school. It would allow for 166 residential 

connections, with a total of 10 other connections.11 Since the project would be located above 

shallow groundwater, Ione’s project would include small diameter mainlines and no manholes.  

 

The total cost of the project is estimated to be $5.5 to 5.7 million, including contingency. These 

costs will continue to rise the longer it takes to implement the project.  

 

 
11 Ione Wastewater Improvements One Stop Meeting Presentation, April 8, 2022.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-5 

Exhibit 3. Ione Community Wastewater System 
Source: Anderson Perry 

 
 

Funding 

In April 2022, the City met with representatives from several funding agencies at the One Stop 

Funding Meeting hosted by Business Oregon. The most viable funding alternative was a USDA 

grant of $2.5 million coupled with a loan. Monthly user fees under this scenario would be $43, 

which is within the City’s affordability threshold. 

The City of Ione has preliminary local grant commitments consisting of: 
 

§ The Ione Community Charter School (Potential for up to $800,000; not guaranteed) 

§ Ione Community Agri-Business Organization (ICABO) $100,000 committed to date 

§ City American Rescue Plan Funds. The City is receiving $200,000 in one-time payments 

in 2022 and an additional payment of $64,000 in either 2022 or 2023.  

§ Columbia River Enterprise Zone (CREZ). The City is expecting to receive $200,000 per 

year from 2022 through 2031, but it is not guaranteed 

§ Amazon payment. The City received $200,000 in 2022.  

There remains a gap of up to $2 million which the City is hoping to bridge through additional 

local grant commitments.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-6 

Next Steps 

§ Obtain funding for the proposed Wastewater System Improvements Project 

§ Finalize 2021 amendment to the 2014 Wastewater Feasibility Study12 

§ Obtain approval from DEQ for system design (expected before the end of 2022) 

§ Design System Improvements 

§ Construct System Improvements 

Transportation Infrastructure Improvements 

The City has identified two road enhancement projects that would contribute to the livability of 

the community. The City has received an ODOT Small City allotment of $250,000 to pay for 

these improvements. The City may need additional grants, depending on the project scope. 

§ Roadwork on Main Street. The City of Ione is pursuing funding to pay for paving and 

pothole repair on 2nd Street.  

§ Emert Road Improvements. The City of Ione would like to improve Emert Road, which 

serves the Emert Addition. This road is partially paved but is prone to periodic 

washboarding. The County is responsible for grading the road.   

Housing Development 

Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group Housing Developments. The group has 
agreed to build another duplex in Ione but is waiting on a contractor. The contractor they used 
previously is out four years in projects. They have approved funding, but it is hard to switch to a 
new contractor.13  

Water System Resiliency Improvements 

In addition to the community wastewater system described above, the City of Ione is interested 

in making improvements to its water system. The City of Ione has two wells and only one 

pump, which may need to be repaired or replaced. The City of Ione is interested in adding a 

second water pump to its system. In a conversation with Regional Solutions on August 1, 2022, 

ECONorthwest learned that the City of Ione can apply for Business Oregon grants to conduct 

water system planning to better outline the costs for the secondary pump and other drinking 

water infrastructure needs.  

 
12 City of Ione, Oregon Wastewater System Improvements One-Stop. April 8th, 2022 
13 Interview with Kim Cutsforth, Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group, April 2022.  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-7 

Housing Market Context - Heppner 

Housing Market Summary14 

The City of Heppner had a total population of 1,295 as of 2020.15 Heppner has a larger share of 

older residents and a lower median family income relative to Morrow County and Oregon. 

About one-fifth of residents in Heppner were over the age of 65 in 2017. Between 2010 and 2018, 

the median household income in Heppner increased 52% from $32,833 to $50,000, but as of 2018 

was still lower than that of Morrow County or Oregon.  

 

Most residents in Heppner own their homes. The Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) identified a 

surplus of homes available for ownership (27 units) and a deficit of homes available for rent (4 

units). However, conversations with the City indicate that there are fewer homes available for 

ownership than found in the HNA. There are limited homes available for higher-income 

households. 

 

From 2000 to 2018, the City of Heppner experienced a 7% decrease in its population, from 1,411 

residents in 2000 to 1,310 in 2018. Between now and 2039, the population of Heppner is 

expected to grow at a modest rate of 0.12%. Between 2018 and 2039, Heppner is anticipated to 

need a total of 27 new housing units to meet rental demand, half of which will be single-family 

detached with the rest a mix of multifamily and mobile homes. 

Past Efforts and Barriers 

The City of Heppner has aging water and wastewater infrastructure, which needs 

improvements to address deficiencies, build capacity, and add redundancy. The City is working 

on addressing the water and sewer service issues on a 22-acre parcel owned by the Willow 

Creek Valley Economic Development Group (WCVEDG) to prepare for the development of 

approximately 15 new homes. The City needs to drill a well that would serve the 22-acre site 

while also adding redundancy to the City’s overall water system. However, while the 22-acre 

parcel is important for new housing development, the City’s infrastructure needs extend 

beyond this parcel and any improvements need to be considered within the context of the 

whole City.  

Land use rules and regulations as well as land constraints are also hindering development in 

Heppner. As described in the Morrow County Housing Strategies Report (2019), “Nearly all of 
the land area in the City’s R3 zone, the only residential zone that allows for multi-family housing 
outright, is classified as Difficult to Serve. Thus, 84% of the estimated citywide housing unit capacity is 

 
14 Data are summarized from the 2019 Morrow County Housing Strategies Report unless otherwise noted.  
15 Population estimates from the Population Resource Center at Portland State University. 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-8 

located on Difficult to Serve parcels.” Heppner needs to revisit its Comprehensive Plan and zoning 

ordinances to remove barriers to the development of a variety of housing types.  

As identified in the Morrow County Housing Strategies Report (2019), Heppner lacks housing 

for households earning over $50,000 annually. Enhancing local amenities could help drive 

demand and encourage developers to invest in new housing projects that target higher-income 

households. The City of Heppner has been actively improving its amenities. Fiber optic internet 

is now available throughout the city. The City and Park District, which is a stand-alone entity, 

have been maintaining parks (of which Heppner has an ample supply due to the Flood Zone) 

and other desired recreational amenities.16 The City recently put in sidewalks from one side of 

the City to the other, including a walking bridge. The Howard and Beth Bryant Foundation has 

also been instrumental in meeting community needs by funding a fitness center, mini-golf 

course, community center, weight room, and batting cage, among other improvements.  

Other barriers to housing development include a lack of developers and builders in the area. 

Many builders are backed up for multiple years. Heppner, like other cities in Morrow County, 

has limited staff capacity to facilitate planning processes and pursue funding opportunities, 

which can further complicate and expand timelines.  

Proposed Infrastructure and Amenity Projects – Cost and 
Potential Funding Sources 

Key projects identified by the City include updating the community’s water and wastewater 

systems and updating City codes and ordinances.  

Community Water System  

Working with Anderson Perry & Associates (a civil engineering firm) the City is putting 

together a Water System Master Plan (WSMP). The WSMP will evaluate the City’s entire 

municipal water system, including supply, storage, and distribution systems. This plan is 

expected to be completed in March 2023 (with a draft in January 2023). 17 It will include total 

estimated project costs and potential funding sources the City can pursue to fund selected 

improvements.  

 

One early project the City identified is the need to construct an additional well. This well would 

resolve capacity issues and build redundancy into the water system as well as serve a new 

residential district. The City is working to build the telemetry system this year.  

 
16 Community residents have expressed a desire for a trail that connects Heppner with neighboring cities, however, 
land needed to make those connections is under private ownership. Interviews with local stakeholders suggest this is 
unlikely to change.  
17 Business Oregon General Application for the City of Heppner’s Waster System Master Plan 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-9 

Funding 

Anderson Perry submitted a grant application for $20,000 on behalf of the City of Heppner to 

fund the planning work, which is expected to cost $65,000. The City is paying the remaining 

$45,000.  

 

The City, in collaboration with Morrow County, applied for an Economic Development 

Administration (EDA) grant and a separate construction grant to support the final design and 

construction of the water system. The City has upward of $750,000 in the General Fund if 

needed as well. A One Stop meeting is expected to take place early next year. At that point, the 

City will have a better understanding of any funding gaps. However, the City expects to need 

additional funding sources and is interested in identifying grants and loans that that will help 

them build resilience into their water system. 

Community Wastewater System 

The City is working on improvements to its wastewater treatment and disposal systems. In 

2021, Anderson Perry & Associates completed the Wastewater Feasibility Study for the City, 

which evaluated improvement alternatives and developed design criteria. The study also 

included a financial plan and project implementation plan. Based on Anderson Perry’s analysis, 

the City chose to pursue improvements to the existing mechanical wastewater treatment facility 

and construct a new effluent storage lagoon with additional land application irrigation systems 

(Exhibit 4). As noted in the Study, these improvements are expected to provide a system that 

can treat wastewater to acceptable levels and provide increased capacity for disposal of treated 

effluent for a 20-year planning period. 

  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-10 

Exhibit 4. Heppner Effluent Disposal Selected Improvements 
Source: Anderson Perry & Associates, City of Heppner Wastewater Feasibility Study, 2021 

 
 
The total cost of the project is estimated to be about $6 million (Exhibit 5), including 
contingency and land acquisition (The City identified a need to secure approximately 15 acres 

for the wastewater infrastructure, which will likely cost between $100,000 and $200,000). These 

costs will rise the longer it takes to implement the project.  

 
Exhibit 5. Summary of Estimated Costs for Wastewater Systems Improvements 
Source: Anderson Perry & Associates, City of Heppner Wastewater Feasibility Study, 2021  
Note: As funding applications are developed, the cost should be projected to the year of anticipated construction to 
account for inflation.  

Improvement Costs 
Mechanical Treatment Plan Improvements $1,449,000 
Wastewater Effluent Storage and Disposal $2,222,000 
Construction Contingency (20 percent) $734,000 
Other Project Costs (Engineering, Environmental, Land Acquisition, etc.) $1,219,000 

Total Estimated Project Cost (Year 2021) $5,624,000 
Total Estimated Project Cost (Year 2022) $5,976,000 

 
  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-11 

Funding 

As indicated by the City, the design work for system improvements has been funded. However, 

the City still needs to identify funding sources for the construction of wastewater system 

improvements. The Wastewater Feasibility Study detailed potential funding sources the City 

could pursue, of which Business Oregon’s Water/Wastewater program, the DEQ’s Clean Water 

State Revolving Fund Loan Program, and a Rural Development bond appeared to be the most 

promising. These options will be discussed with funding agencies at a One Stop meeting, which 

will take place in late 2022 or early 2023. The City recently completed its income survey and 

found it does not qualify for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding.   

 

Debt Capacity  

As described in the Wastewater Feasibility Study, if the entire wastewater project was funded 

through a loan, the utility rate could jump from $34.84 per connection per month to 

approximately $68 per month or more depending on the loan. Estimated loan capacities are 

based on the current estimate of 733 connections and annual operation and maintenance 

expenditures that increase 5% each year. 

Updating Ordinances and Codes 

The City has limited available, unconstrained land zoned for residential development. To 

encourage more housing development, the City is working on updating ordinances and codes. 

The City adopted Goal 10 last year and is working on updating it in the Comprehensive Plan as 

a next step. The City is interested in reviewing flood control ordinances, although the City 

needs to try to reduce the number of pages incorporated due to costs. The City also intends to 

review ordinances for the Downtown District and other areas that are not well defined for 

building and construction. This planning review will be funded with a $1,000 DLCD planning 

assistance grant. The City will contribute any other needed funding to complete the review.  

Transportation Infrastructure Improvements 

The City has been actively working on updating and maintaining its road network. The City 

received over $3 million in the past couple of years and should get another couple of million in 

the next couple of years to continue this work.  

Other Amenities 

While the City has been active in improving and expanding amenities, there may be an 

opportunity for the City to expand restaurant offerings in the area. Initial discussions indicate 

there might be an opportunity for coffee shops and/or fast-food restaurants. 

  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-12 

Additional Funding and Timing Considerations 

While the City has been building up a financial reserve, it does not have enough to cover the 

full cost of infrastructure improvements and will need to compile funding from a variety of 

sources, including local government sources (General Fund), raising utility rates, and state and 

federal loans and grants.  

 

Understanding funding revenues and what they support will be critical to meeting Heppner’s 

infrastructure needs. Some sources can only be used for specific purposes but will need to be 

considered within the greater context of the whole City improvements. For instance, the City 

received a grant from the state for approximately $2 million for street improvements for 2022, 

which will be done in coordination with water and wastewater work.  

Funding Sources that Could Support Projects 

While the City will have One Stop meetings to identify funding for the water and wastewater 

projects, the City has already secured or is interested in pursuing funding from the following 

sources that could support projects.  

§ State of Oregon. The City received $500,000 for economic benefit – spending 

requirements unclear at this point 

§ Morrow County  

§ Columbia River Enterprise Zone (CREZ). The City is expecting to receive $200,000 

per year from 2022 through 2031, but this is not guaranteed. This is likely to be split 

equally between water, wastewater, and streets.  

§ Amazon payment. The City is receiving $200,000 in 2022.  

§ City ARPA funds. $280,000 in two installments  

§ 2022: $140,000 – received approximately $65,000 for water and sewer projects 

§ 2023: $140,000 – not allocated, flexible in how it can be spent 

§ ODOT Small City Allotment Program. Pursuing $250,000 in 2022 and 2023 to upgrade 

streets (for paving around the hospital, deteriorating road) 

Next Steps for Water and Wastewater System Improvements 

§ Finish Water System Master Plan (WSMP) 

§ Hold a One Stop meeting for wastewater system improvements 

§ Hold a One Stop meeting for water system improvements 

  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-13 

Housing Market Context - Lexington 

Housing Market Summary18 

The City of Lexington had a total population of 265 as of 2020.19 Lexington has a larger share of 

older residents and a lower median family income relative to Morrow County and Oregon. The 

City has fewer families with children than the County and an average household size of 3.3 

persons. About one-fifth of residents in Lexington were over the age of 65 in 2017. The 

estimated median household income in Lexington was $29,400 in 2018 compared to Morrow 

County’s $54,400. 

 

Most residents in Lexington own their homes. The Housing Needs Analysis found that the City 

has a surplus of homes available for ownership (18 units) and a deficit of homes available for 

rent (17 units). There are limited homes available for higher-income households. 

 

The City of Lexington experienced a 10% decrease in its population from 263 residents in 2000 

to 238 in 2010 before increasing again to 265 in 2018. Between 2018 and 2039, the population of 

Lexington is expected to decrease at an annual rate of 0.66%. Between 2018 and 2039, Lexington 

is anticipated to need a total of 17 new housing units to meet rental demand, which is expected 

to be a mix of single-family detached and mobile homes.  

Past Efforts and Barriers 

The City of Lexington’s current water system is unable to keep up with demand. In recent 

years, the City has had to put water restrictions in place to preserve its supply, which is 

particularly constrained in the summer months. The City also has limited options for treating 

wastewater. Residents and businesses use individual, privately owned septic tanks and 

drainfields to treat and dispose of wastewater on each developed lot in the city. This limits the 

density of development, making it generally only suitable for single-family detached housing. 

Addressing water system deficiencies is a priority for the City and is necessary before making 

changes to wastewater management.  

In the past, the City has had limited success seeking funding and support for wastewater 

treatment facilities given the small population, limited land for development (most of the 

capacity for residential units is on parcels classified as “difficult to serve,” which makes 

extending infrastructure to these sites costly and difficult), and future population growth 

projections. Instead of developing a municipal wastewater treatment system, the Morrow 

County Housing Strategies Report (2019) identified the following recommendations while 

recognizing that these approaches may be cost prohibitive at the scale likely for Lexington:  

 
18 Data are summarized from the 2019 Morrow County Housing Strategies Report unless otherwise noted. 
19 Population estimates from the Population Resource Center at Portland State University. 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-14 

§ Investigate the feasibility of using package wastewater treatment systems or the on-site 

collection and off-site treatment of wastewater. The Oregon Department of 

Environmental Quality and Multnomah County sanitarian would be a good resource for 

information about these techniques.  

§ Identify larger parcels that have adequate space for a common septic field that could 

treat wastewater from multiple units. Housing units could be clustered and potentially 

built more economically as attached housing on such sites, with a common drainfield 

located in open areas on the site. Cottage cluster development is one example of this 

type of development.  

Like the rest of the County, Lexington may also have opportunities to enhance local amenities 

and services to both improve the quality of life for current residents as well as attract additional 

residents to the city. The City identified a need for parks and recreational amenities as well as 

sidewalks. 

Other barriers to housing development include a lack of developers and builders in the area. 

Many builders are backed up for multiple years. Lexington, like other cities in the county, has 

limited staff capacity to facilitate planning processes and pursue funding opportunities, which 

can further complicate and expand timelines. 

Proposed Infrastructure Projects: Community Wastewater 
System and Water System 

Key projects identified by the City include updating the community’s water system and 

evaluating options for wastewater treatment. The City also identified opportunities to improve 

roadway facilities and add recreational amenities.  

Community Water System  

Working with Anderson Perry & Associates (a civil engineering firm), the City is putting 

together a Water System Study which will evaluate the municipal water system piping and new 

water supply well options. This plan is expected to be completed in February 2023 (with a draft 

in December 2022).20 It will include total estimated project costs and potential funding sources 

the City can pursue to fund needed improvements. The first work session was held in March 

2022. 

Funding 

Anderson Perry submitted a grant application with Business Oregon for $20,000 on behalf of the 

City of Lexington to fund this planning work which is expected to cost $40,000. The City is 

paying the remaining $20,000. 

 

 
20 Business Oregon General Application for Lexington’s Waster System Study 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-15 

On July 1, 2022, the City raised the rate for 10,000 gallons of water from $48 to $49 for basic 

services. Initial discussions with Anderson Perry indicate that the City will not need to conduct 

an income study to pursue affordability restricted funding, as the City already meets or exceeds 

the affordability rate.  

 
A One Stop meeting to identify funding options is expected to take place in early 2023 after the 

completion of the study.  

Wastewater System  

Working with Anderson Perry & Associates, the City of Lexington is putting together a 

Wastewater System Feasibility Study which will evaluate options for a communitywide 

municipal wastewater system. The most serious issue at this point is that the City needs a septic 

tank drain field. This plan is expected to be completed in February 2023 (with a draft in 

December 2022).21 It will include total estimated project costs and potential funding sources the 

City can pursue to fund needed improvements. The first work session with Anderson Perry was 

held on May 10, 2022.  

Funding 

Anderson Perry submitted a grant application with Business Oregon for $20,000 on behalf of the 

City of Lexington to fund this planning work, which is expected to cost $40,000. The City is 

paying the remaining $20,000. A One Stop meeting to identify funding options is expected to 

take place in early 2023 after the completion of the study.  

Transportation Infrastructure Improvements 

The City is pursuing a Transportation and Growth Management grant through the Oregon 

Department of Land Conservation and Development, which could be used to update their 

Transportation System Plan or create a Downtown Plan. As of April 2022, the City was still 

waiting for award allocations. Most of the City’s streets are paved due to receiving the Small 

City Allotment Grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation, but the City still has 

several streets that need to be resurfaced or upgraded from gravel to pavement. 

Other Amenities 

The City currently has two small parks off Highway 74. Neither of these parks is large enough 

for a playground. The City has expressed interest in adding a larger park that can support a 

playground. The City also wants to fence in the parks to improve safety, as well as add 

amenities such as picnic tables and benches.  

 

Residents have also expressed a desire to build a sidewalk down one side of Main Street to the 

highway, which would improve safety for pedestrians. This would be a part of the Downtown 

Improvement Plan project area, which could include sidewalks on both sides of the downtown 

area.  

 
21 Business Oregon General Application for Lexington’s Wastewater System Study 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-16 

Additional Funding and Timing Considerations 

The City does not have a large enough financial reserve built up to cover infrastructure 

improvements and will need to compile funding from a variety of sources, including local 

government sources, raising utility rates, and state and federal loans and grants.  

Additional funding sources that could support projects 

While the City will have One Stop meetings to identify funding for the water and wastewater 

projects, the City has already secured or is interested in pursuing funding from the following 

sources to support projects.  

§ Morrow County (secured) 

§ Columbia River Enterprise Zone (CREZ). The City is expecting to receive $200,000 

per year from 2022 through 2031, but this money is not guaranteed 

§ Amazon payment. The City is receiving $200,000 in 2022.  

§ City ARPA funds (secured). $26,000  

§ ChangeX (Amazon micro grants). Awarded $5,000 for technology improvements to the 

town hall. 

§ Small City Allocation Grant (ODOT). Pursuing $250,000 for road improvements 

§ TGM grant. Pursuing $175,000 for Downtown Improvement Plan 

Next Steps for Water System Improvements 

§ Finish water system and wastewater system feasibility studies 

§ Hold One Stop meetings for water and wastewater system improvements 

 
  



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-17 

Implications and Next Steps 

With Anderson Perry’s support, the Cities of Ione, Heppner, and Lexington are well equipped 

to address their water and wastewater deficiencies and identify funding packages to support 

these projects. However, water and wastewater infrastructure improvements alone will not 

guarantee additional housing development. Cities across Oregon are having difficulties 

attracting housing development, especially development that would be suited to low- and 

middle-income families. Findings from initial conversations with stakeholders indicate that the 

biggest barriers to housing development in the area include a lack of developer capacity, along 

with a lack of capacity to advocate for and pursue additional funding for infrastructure and 

amenities.  

 

Over the summer of 2022, ECONorthwest will draft an implementation plan to address the 

needs and gaps identified in this background report. Based on our research to date, we have 

identified the following implications that will guide our work on the implementation plan 

moving forward.  

The three communities could collaborate to attract investment in amenities and 
infrastructure and build professional services capacity across the whole Valley. 

The cities have barriers when it comes to planning, both in staff capacity and expertise and in 

grant writing. The cities may benefit from a regional planner, shared between the three cities, 

potentially housed in the County. The cities might consider using some of the funds identified 

during this process to support regional planning and grant writing capacity.  

Next steps for developing the implementation plan 

§ Explore ways to support city planning. The cities identified infrastructure and amenity 

projects beyond water and wastewater that need the expertise of a planner to pursue 

them. As a next step, ECONorthwest will explore how other cities have overcome 

planning capacity constraints through best practices research and interviews with 

regional partners. The implementation plan could detail how a regional planner might 

be shared between the three cities and how they might be funded.  

§ Potential interviews/small group discussion: Courtney Crowell, Regional Solutions 

Coordinator; Susan Anderson, Enterprise Community Partners (Susan is a national 

expert in rural housing development that ECONorthwest has worked with on past 

projects and can provide best practices ideas from around the country) 

§ For City of Ione, include the City’s plan to request an amendment or revision to a 

flood map in an effort to change the city’s floodplain designation.22  

§ Explore ways to improve grant writing capacity. Funding desired projects remains a 

continuous challenge for the cities. Many staff are at capacity with their current 

 
22 https://www.fema.gov/flood-maps/change-your-flood-zone 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-18 

workloads and have little or no time to pursue additional funding. There may be an 

opportunity to boost grant writing capacity across the three cities by pursuing either on-

call grant writing services or hiring permanent staff members to pursue grants. The 

cities could join with the County and share capacity or could pursue these options 

individually. ECONorthwest will discuss options and best practices during interviews 

or small group discussions with regional partners. The implementation plan will detail 

how grant writing capacity could be improved across the three cities.  

§ Potential interviews: same for Planning 

§ Advocate for filling infrastructure and amenity project funding gaps. In the 

implementation plan, we will provide a high-level characterization of the expected 

capital funding gap and potential funding sources for Ione’s wastewater infrastructure 

improvements, but other communities have not yet completed their planning and one 

stop meeting. Thus, our overall findings may be higher level and include next steps like 

the following:  

§ Coordinate with Morrow County to determine how the cities can best communicate 

funding gaps for priority projects 

§ Present to the CREZ Board. The CREZ board may be able to provide valuable 

feedback on this background report. Over the next 5 years, CREZ is set to receive 

significant funds that could help support city needs. The County/cities may want to 

consider convening the CREZ board to discuss the barriers identified through the 

implementation plan process.  

§ Explore the Port’s role in infrastructure for the cities. There may be value in 

discussing city infrastructure needs with the Port. The Port is important at least for 

Heppner because they own the old Mill Site. Discussions with the Port would help 

establish what role, if any, the Port could play in helping with infrastructure. 

- Potential interview: Mark Patton, Port COO  

§ Identify potential funding and financing tools for infrastructure and amenities 
that the cities are interested in pursuing. This could include exploring ways to raise 

additional funds such as using the TIF funding approach (e.g., Housing Incentive 

District). It may also include exploring targeted grant funding from sources such as 

ODOT, RDI, EDA, private foundations, OWRD Water Feasibility Grant, etc. 

- Potential Interviews: Ken Patterson, ODOT representative, City of Madras 

(regarding Housing Incentive District), Julie Keniry (REV Program), Melissa 

Drugge (Business Oregon) 

Identify innovative ways to produce housing in rural areas 

All three cities face barriers when it comes to attracting development. Market-rate developers 

have little incentive to invest in the area due to limited opportunities for profitability. Not-for-

profit organizations face barriers to accessing contractors. Some contractors that have 

previously worked in the cities are backed up for multiple years. Financing also remains a 



 

Morrow County Housing Implementation Strategy –October 2022  C-19 

barrier for both market-rate and not-for-profit developers. The cities may benefit from exploring 

how other rural cities have attracted developers and implementing ideas in a coordinated effort 

across the region.  

Next steps for developing the implementation plan 

§ Explore how other communities have been able to attract development. The three 

cities, like many rural areas, struggle to attract development. ECONorthwest will 

explore how other communities have dealt with development barriers such as limited 

contractor capacity and limited opportunities for profitable market-rate development. 

Are there ways cities have gotten around these issues? How have developers in other 

cities overcome financing constraints? The implementation plan will include steps to 

address these barriers.  

§ Potential interviews: WCVEDG – discuss an approach for not-for-profit development; 

Susan Anderson, Enterprise Community Partners; Julie Keniry, Rural Engagement 

and Vitality Center 

§ Link housing planning with economic development planning. There may be an 

opportunity for the cities to tie tourism and placemaking opportunities with housing 

development, enhancing opportunities for alternative funding options. The 

implementation plan could include next steps such as: 

§ Explore grants, like the USDA Placemaking Grant, and attend the Placemaking in 

Small and Rural Communities Online Conference, which is an opportunity for the 

cities to learn about placemaking and future funding sources.  

Consider WCVEDG’s role. The Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group 

has previously funded projects across the region. The implementation plan could 

consider what WCVEDG’s continued role in the communities will be, both in direct 

development and funding support.23 WCVEDG has recently focused on the following: 

§ Business Enhancement Grants for any business in WCVEDG territory. Can spend up 

to $25,000 over the life of a business 

§ Housing Rehabilitation Fund - up to $20,000; capital improvements only 

§ Demolition Grant - $5,000 to $10,000 for tearing down a building; either sell or 

develop in a year 

 

 

 

 

 
23 Interview with Kim Cutsforth, Willow Creek Valley Economic Development Group, May 5th, 2022. 









































LC #  Bill # Lead Organization/Entity Other Supporting Orgs Legislative Chief Sponsor/Drafter Other Legislators 
Supporting

Concept Notes Topic

LC1803 OCEAN Renewable Hydrogen Planning Funding  Hydrogen
LC 1805 Renewable Hydrogen Alliance House Interim Committee on 

Environment and Natural Resources
LC 1805 would establish a grant program within Oregon Department of Energy (ODOE) to provide grants to 
fund replacement of generators that use diesel or fossil fuels with renewable hydrogen‐fueled generators. 
Directs ODOE to prioritize awarding grants for emergency shelters
and infrastructure, facilities and buildings related to provision of critical public services, health care and 
utilities. Appropriates moneys from General Fund to Renewable Hydrogen Fueled Generator Grant Fund. 
Directs ODOE to develop planning goals for development of hydrogen production and storage and other 
hydrogen‐related infrastructure. Directs ODOE to incorporate
planning goals into updated state energy strategy. (dated 12/7/22)

Hydrogen

LC 1813 Renewable Hydrogen Alliance House Interim Committee on 
Environment and Natural Resources

LC 1813 would direct the Department of Transportation (ODOT) to establish grant program for fuel cell 
electric vehicle and hydrogen fueling demonstration projects. Appropriates moneys from General Fund to 
ODOT for grant program. Requires ODOT to study existing state statutes,
regulations, rules and policies that may impede or hinder wide‐scale adoption and use of fuel cell electric 
vehicles and hydrogen fueling. Directs ODOT to submit findings and recommendations to interim 
committees of Legislative Assembly related to energy and economic development not later than September 
15, 2024. (dated 10/21/22)

Hydrogen

Sustainable NW Creates a renewable hydrogen strategy & definition  Similar to recommendation made in recent Hydrogen Study;  
WA definition =green electrolytic ‐ want Oregon to align

Hydrogen

LC 1388 House Interim Committee on 
Environment and Natural Resources

Directs Oregon Department of Energy to convene a workgroup to
examine, evaluate and, develop statewide strategies to accelerate development of
state’s renewable hydrogen industry (dated November 23, 2022).

Hydrogen

LC1736 OCEAN Collaboration with Pacific States & Northwest for Energy Strategy Planning & Implementation Planning

LC 3044 Renewable Northwest  House Interim Committee on 
Environment and Natural Resources

Requires the Oregon Department of Energy to work with a diverse group
of stakeholders to identify areas of inquiry regarding energy and energy use in the state, develop research 
options, and an convene advisory group to develop recommendations and benchmarks around energy and 
energy use in Oregon (dated November 30, 2022). (SAME LANGUAGE AS LC 2190)

Planning

LC 2190 Renewable Northwest  Senate Committee on Energy & 
Environment

Requires State Department of Energy to work with stakeholders to iden‐
tify areas of inquiry regarding energy and energy use in this state, develop
research options and convene advisory group to develop recommendations and benchmarks around energy 
and energy use in this state. Directs department to produce report with final set of recommendations and 
submit report to Governor and appropriate interim committees of Legislative Assembly no later than 
September 15, 2024. Takes effect 91st day following adjournment sine die. (SAME LANGUAGE AS LC 3044)

Link to LC: 
https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2021I1/Downloads/Co
mmitteeMeetingDocument/257576

Planning

LC2350 CREA Rep. Brock Smith HB 2855 (2019) ‐ PUC reform  PUC
CREA Sen. Dembrow Sen. Hansell Intent is to get the OPUC to prioritize the adoption of an avoided cost schedule for renewable energy 

storage systems which dispatch to the grid. They will say that they are doing that in UM 2000 but our 
experience is that this investigation will take years. The avoided cost process is well established. The 
legislation would direct the OPUC to conduct a  process separate from UM 2000 to use the methodology to 
adopt a payment schedule for stored renewable energy available to qualifying facilities.

PUC



LC #  Bill # Lead Organization/Entity Other Supporting Orgs Legislative Chief Sponsor/Drafter Other Legislators 
Supporting

Concept Notes Topic

Sustainable NW OSSIA Require OPUC study on benefits of resiliency and microgrids  A “microgrid” is a system that has back up power and can 
maintain electricity during an outage.  This could be as small 
as one building that has renewable generation and a backup 
battery, like the Beaverton safety center, or a series of 
buildings that are connected to backup up power, like this 
example in Salem.; ‐ want pilot projects ‐ range of 
technologies that incorporate resilience

PUC

CREA full ability to use the transmission + storage inc in PPAs PURPA
* NewSun Rep. Brock Smith Purpa related ‐ PUC cannot terminate contract when resilience ‐ fix‐it bill PURPA

Sustainable NW OSSIA Related to Purpa ‐ increase solar limit from 3‐10MW PURPA
SunThurst Tax exemption for commercial side of community solar projects Community Solar

LC 1363 OCEAN Related to public safety; Require IOUs to accept 3rd party engineering studies for interconnection &  IOUs
NewSun Rep. Marsh Bill on opportunities to permit solar on water‐barren land Right now 12 acre limit Land Use

LC 2709 House Interim Committee on 
Environment and Natural Resources

Requires Oregon Department of Energy to study avoided costs for
acquiring renewable energy (dated November 8, 2022)

ODOE Study

LC1906 OCEAN Omnibus offshore wind bill  Off‐shore Wind
Renewable Northwest, Verde & 
1000 Friends

Rep. Marsh Siting table proposal placeholder Siting

CREA get another study following up on recent Small‐Scale Study ‐ continue the study to get more information on  Small‐scale
LC2343 CREA NewSun Rep. Brock Smith HB 2857 (2019) ‐ Replace “capacity” with “generation” in ORS 469A.210; Requires 10 percent of electricity 

sold in this state by each electric company that makes sales to 25,000 or more retail electricity consumers to 
be generated by small‐scale renewable energy facilities or certain biomass facilities.
Increases, to 100 average megawatts of electricity per year, amount of electricity generated by certified low‐
impact hydroelectric facilities that may be used to comply with renewable portfolio standards.
Establishes, for purposes of public utilities that provide electric power to consumers in this state, additional 
standards for purchase of energy or en‐ ergy and capacity from qualifying facilities.
Allows person injured by certain violations by public utility related to purchase and sale of energy or energy 
and capacity to recover treble damages from public utility.

NewSun is working on latest version ‐ asked for redraft from 
DBS last week*

NewSun Rep. Rayfield Economic accelerator bill & clean energy for Oregon ‐ need more information on this one
LC 3026 Sen. Dembrow Working Lands Proposal Legislation



LC #  Bill # Lead 
Organization/Entity

Other 
Supporting 

Legislative Chief 
Sponsor/Drafter

Other Legislators 
Supporting

Concept Notes Topic

LC2350 CREA Rep. Brock Smith HB 2855 (2019) ‐ PUC reform  PUC
LC2343 CREA NewSun Rep. Brock Smith HB 2857 (2019) ‐ Replace “capacity” with “generation” in ORS 469A.210; 

Requires 10 percent of electricity sold in this state by each electric company 
that makes sales to 25,000 or more retail electricity consumers to be 
generated by small‐scale renewable energy facilities or certain biomass 
facilities.
Increases, to 100 average megawatts of electricity per year, amount of 
electricity generated by certified low‐impact hydroelectric facilities that may 
be used to comply with renewable portfolio standards.
Establishes, for purposes of public utilities that provide electric power to 
consumers in this state, additional standards for purchase of energy or en‐ 
ergy and capacity from qualifying facilities.
Allows person injured by certain violations by public utility related to purchase 
and sale of energy or energy and capacity to recover treble damages from 
public utility.

NewSun is working on latest version ‐ 
asked for redraft from DBS last week*

CREA Sen. Dembrow Sen. Hansell Intent is to get the OPUC to prioritize the adoption of an avoided cost 
schedule for renewable energy storage systems which dispatch to the grid. 
They will say that they are doing that in UM 2000 but our experience is that 
this investigation will take years. The avoided cost process is well established. 
The legislation would direct the OPUC to conduct a  process separate from UM 
2000 to use the methodology to adopt a payment schedule for stored 
renewable energy available to qualifying facilities.

PUC

CREA Full ability to use the transmission + storage inc in PPAs PURPA
CREA Get another study following up on recent Small‐Scale Study ‐ continue the 

study to get more information on cost on small scale v utiliity
Small‐scale

* NewSun Rep. Brock Smith Purpa related ‐ PUC cannot terminate contract when resilience ‐ fix‐it bill PURPA
NewSun Rep. Marsh Bill on opportunities to permit solar on water‐barren land Right now 12 acre limit Land Use
NewSun Rep. Rayfield Economic accelerator bill & clean energy for Oregon ‐ need more information 

on this one
LC1803 OCEAN Renewable Hydrogen Planning Funding  Hydrogen
LC 1363 OCEAN Related to public safety; Require IOUs to accept 3rd party engineering studies 

for interconnection & network upgrades. 
IOUs

LC1906 OCEAN Omnibus offshore wind bill  Off‐shore Wind
LC1736 OCEAN Collaboration with Pacific States & Northwest for Energy Strategy Planning & 

Implementation
Planning



LC #  Bill # Lead 
Organization/Entity

Other 
Supporting 

Legislative Chief 
Sponsor/Drafter

Other Legislators 
Supporting

Concept Notes Topic

LC 1805 Renewable Hydrogen 
Alliance

House Interim Committee 
on Environment and 
Natural Resources

LC 1805 would establish a grant program within Oregon Department of Energy 
(ODOE) to provide grants to fund replacement of generators that use diesel or 
fossil fuels with renewable hydrogen‐fueled generators. Directs ODOE to 
prioritize awarding grants for emergency shelters
and infrastructure, facilities and buildings related to provision of critical public 
services, health care and utilities. Appropriates moneys from General Fund to 
Renewable Hydrogen Fueled Generator Grant Fund. Directs ODOE to develop 
planning goals for development of hydrogen production and storage and other 
hydrogen‐related infrastructure. Directs ODOE to incorporate
planning goals into updated state energy strategy. (dated 12/7/22)

Hydrogen

LC 1813 Renewable Hydrogen 
Alliance

House Interim Committee 
on Environment and 
Natural Resources

LC 1813 would direct the Department of Transportation (ODOT) to establish 
grant program for fuel cell electric vehicle and hydrogen fueling 
demonstration projects. Appropriates moneys from General Fund to ODOT for 
grant program. Requires ODOT to study existing state statutes,
regulations, rules and policies that may impede or hinder wide‐scale adoption 
and use of fuel cell electric vehicles and hydrogen fueling. Directs ODOT to 
submit findings and recommendations to interim committees of Legislative 
Assembly related to energy and economic development not later than 
September 15, 2024. (dated 10/21/22)

Hydrogen

LC 3044 Renewable Northwest  House Interim Committee 
on Environment and 
Natural Resources

Requires the Oregon Department of Energy to work with a diverse group
of stakeholders to identify areas of inquiry regarding energy and energy use in 
the state, develop research options, and an convene advisory group to 
develop recommendations and benchmarks around energy and energy use in 
Oregon (dated November 30, 2022). (SAME LANGUAGE AS LC 2190)

Planning

LC 2190 Renewable Northwest  Senate Committee on 
Energy & Environment

Requires State Department of Energy to work with stakeholders to iden‐
tify areas of inquiry regarding energy and energy use in this state, develop
research options and convene advisory group to develop recommendations 
and benchmarks around energy and energy use in this state. Directs 
department to produce report with final set of recommendations and submit 
report to Governor and appropriate interim committees of Legislative 
Assembly no later than September 15, 2024. Takes effect 91st day following 
adjournment sine die. (SAME LANGUAGE AS LC 3044)

Link to LC: 
https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/202
1I1/Downloads/CommitteeMeetingDocu
ment/257576

Planning

Renewable Northwest, 
Verde & 1000 Friends

Rep. Marsh Siting table proposal placeholder Two placeholder bills Siting

SunThurst Tax exemption for commercial side of community solar projects Community Solar
Sustainable NW Creates a renewable hydrogen strategy & definition  Similar to recommendation made in 

recent Hydrogen Study;  WA definition 
Hydrogen



LC #  Bill # Lead 
Organization/Entity

Other 
Supporting 

Legislative Chief 
Sponsor/Drafter

Other Legislators 
Supporting

Concept Notes Topic

Sustainable NW OSSIA Require OPUC study on benefits of resiliency and microgrids  A “microgrid” is a system that has back 
up power and can maintain electricity 
during an outage.  This could be as small 
as one building that has renewable 
generation and a backup battery, like the 
Beaverton safety center, or a series of 
buildings that are connected to backup 
up power, like this example in Salem.; ‐ 
want pilot projects ‐ range of 
technologies that incorporate resilience

PUC

Sustainable NW OSSIA Related to Purpa ‐ increase solar limit from 3‐10MW PURPA
LC 1388 House Interim Committee 

on Environment and 
Natural Resources

Directs Oregon Department of Energy to convene a workgroup to
examine, evaluate and, develop statewide strategies to accelerate 
development of
state’s renewable hydrogen industry (dated November 23, 2022).

Hydrogen

LC 2709 House Interim Committee 
on Environment and 
Natural Resources

Requires Oregon Department of Energy to study avoided costs for
acquiring renewable energy (dated November 8, 2022)

ODOE Study

LC 3026 Sen. Dembrow Working Lands Proposal Legislation


	Agenda
	Minutes, Nov. 9th 
	Public Transit 5310 & 5311 Program Apps, FY 23-25
	PARC Resources Master Svcs. Agmt., Grant Writing Svcs.
	School-Based Health Center Services Agreement
	BAT Update& Fabric Data Licensee Request
	Adopt STIF Plan, FY 23-25
	Wage Increase, Temp Flaggers & Temp Park Help
	Planning Commission Appointment Requests
	Willow Creek Valley Housing Implementation Strategy Report
	Planning Dept. Monthly Report
	Treasurer's Monthly Report
	Correspondence

